
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Julie Lloyd 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864246   Ebost: lloydj4@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 18 Medi 2024 

 
 
I bwy bynnag a fynno wybod,  
 
Cynhelir cyfarfod aml-leoliad o'r Cyd-bwyllgor Craffu yn Nhŷ Penallta, a thrwy Microsoft Teams ar Dydd 
Mawrth, 24ain Medi, 2024 am 5.00 pm i ystyried y materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol. Gall 

Cynghorwyr ac aelodau'r cyhoedd sy’n dymuno siarad ar unrhyw eitem wneud hynny drwy wneud cais i’r 
Cadeirydd. Mae hefyd croeso i chi ddefnyddio'r Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, mae angen o leiaf 3 diwrnod 
gwaith o rybudd os byddwch chi'n dymuno gwneud y naill neu'r llall. Bydd gwasanaeth cyfieithu ar y pryd 
yn cael ei ddarparu ar gais.  
 
Gall aelodau'r Cyhoedd neu'r Wasg fynychu'n bersonol yn Nhŷ Penallta neu gallant weld y cyfarfod yn fyw  
drwy'r ddolen ganlynol: https://civico.net/caerphilly 
 

 

Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei ffrydio'n fyw a bydd recordiad ar gael i'w weld drwy wefan y Cyngor, ac  
eithrio trafodaethau sy'n ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig. Felly, bydd delweddau/sain yr  

unigolion sy'n siarad ar gael yn gyhoeddus i bawb drwy wefan y Cyngor: www.caerffili.gov.uk 
 

 

 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
 
 

 
 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus

https://civico.net/caerphilly
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/


2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb.   
 
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 
 

I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:-  
  
 
3  Cydbwllgor Craffu a gynhaliwyd ar 8 Gorffennaf 2024. 

1 - 8 
 

4  Cydbwllgor Craffu a gynhaliwyd ar 18 Gorffennaf 2024. 
9 - 16 

 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol:- 
  
 
5  Mobileiddio Tim Caerffili - darpau prydau bwyd yn uniongyrchol yn y dyfodol a'r cwch gwenyn, 

Ty Penallta. 
17 - 64 

 

6  Mobileiddio Tim Caerffili - darpau Maenordy Llancaiach Fawr yn y dyfodol. 
65 - 114 

 
 
 
 
Cylchrediad: 
 
Cynghorwyr M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bishop, C. Bissex-Foster, A. Broughton-Pettit, 

M. Chacon-Dawson, R. Chapman, Mrs P. Cook, D. Cushing, C.J. Cuss, D.T. Davies, E. Davies, N. Dix, 
G. Ead, C. Elsbury, G. Enright, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, Mrs C. Forehead, J.E. Fussell, 
A. Gair, C.J. Gordon, D.C. Harse, T. Heron, A. Hussey, D. Ingram-Jones, M.P. James, L. Jeremiah, 
G. Johnston, Ms J.G. Jones, S. Kent, A. Leonard, C.P. Mann, A. McConnell, B. Miles, B. Owen, T. Parry, 
L. Phipps, M. Powell, D.W.R. Preece, H. Pritchard, J.A. Pritchard, J. Rao, J. Reed, J.E. Roberts, 
R. Saralis, J. Scriven, J. Simmonds, S. Skivens, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, A. Whitcombe, L.G. Whittle, 
S. Williams, W. Williams, J. Winslade, K. Woodland a C. Wright 
 
A Swyddogion Priodol 
 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 
Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
 
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybo daeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 
 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  
01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


 

 
 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 
MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD IN PENALLTA HOUSE 

AND VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON MONDAY 8TH JULY 2024 AT 5.00 P.M. 

 
PRESENT: 

 
 

Councillor A. Whitcombe – Chair  
 

Councillors: 
 

M. Adams, E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-
Dawson, R. Chapman, P. Cook, C.J. Cuss, E. Davies, D. T. Davies (MBE), N. Dix, G. 
Ead, C. Elsbury, K. Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, C. Forehead, A. Gair, D. 
Harse, T. Heron, D. Ingram-Jones, L. Jeremiah, G. Johnston, J. Jones, A. Leonard, 
A. McConnell, B. Miles, B. Owen, T. Parry, M. Powell, D. Preece, H. Pritchard, J.A. 
Pritchard, J. Rao, J. Roberts, R. Saralis, J. Simmonds, C. Thomas, L.G. Whittle, S. 
Williams, W. Williams, J. Winslade, K. Woodland and C. Wright.  

 
Cabinet Members: 

 
Councillors: S. Morgan (Leader of Council), C. Andrews (Education and 
Communities), S. Cook (Housing), N. George (Corporate Services, Property and 
Highways), P. Leonard (Planning and Public Protection), C. Morgan (Waste, Leisure 
and Green Spaces), J. Pritchard (Prosperity, Regeneration and Climate Change) and 
E. Stenner (Finance and Performance). 

 
Together with: 

 
Officers:  D. Street (Deputy Chief Executive), M. S. Williams (Corporate Director 
Economy and Environment), M. Lloyd (Head of Infrastructure), H. Jones (Waste 
Strategy and Operations Manager), C. Forbes-Thompson (Scrutiny Manager), H. 
Lancaster (Transformation Manager), A. Jones (Committee Services Officer) and J. 
Thomas (Committee Services Officer). 
 
Also in attendance: E. Hallett Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) 

RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and 
recorded and would be made available following the meeting via the Council’s 
website – Click Here to View.  Members were advised that voting on decisions would 
be taken via Microsoft Forms.  

 
 

Tudalen 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors:  D. Cushing, G. Enright, E. 
Forehead, J. Fussell, C. Gordon, A. Hussey, M. James, S. Kent, C. Mann, L. Phipps, 
J. Reed, J. Scriven, S. Skivens and J. Taylor 

 
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest received at the commencement or during the 
course of the meeting.  

 
 
3. JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 26TH FEBRUARY 2024.  

 
It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the meeting held on 26th February 
2024 be approved as a correct record, By way of Microsoft Forms and verbal 
confirmation (and in noting there were 39 for, 0 against, and 3 abstentions), this was 
agreed by the majority present.  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Joint Scrutiny Committee held on 26th 
February 2024 (minute nos. 1 – 5) be approved as a correct record.  

 

 
REPORTS OF OFFICERS 

 
 Consideration was given to the following report. 

 
 

4. PROPOSED WASTE STRATEGY AND CONSULTATION FEEDBACK  

 
The Cabinet Member for Waste, Leisure and Green Spaces presented the report 

which provided Members with an update on the key findings from the 12-week Public 

Consultation on the Councils Draft Waste Strategy. 

Members were advised that the Consultation had been a far reaching public 

Consultation where the views were provided from Caerphilly County Borough 

Residents on a number of proposals that could help shape our approach to deliver 

waste and recycling services in the future. Residents were invited to give their views 

in a variety of ways including a survey, a dedicated edition of Newsline, informal face 

to face drop-in sessions, pop up opportunities in supermarket foyers and more. The 

Cabinet Member thanked everyone who completed the survey and had their say on 

this very important topic. 

Through the consultation findings, it offered some initial operational 

recommendations to help mitigate the public impact of some of the proposals, with 

additional feedback from the Cross-Party Member Working Group on the initial 

recommendations. 

Members were asked to consider and express views on appropriate next steps in 

shaping the final draft of the waste strategy using feedback from the public 

consultation and Member Working Group for Cabinet and Council consideration. 

Tudalen 2



Members were provided with an update on the financial implications associated with 

the delivery of the Waste Strategy and discussions with Welsh Government on the 

Outline Business Case (OBC). 

The Cabinet Member for Waste, Leisure and Green Spaces thanked the 

Transformation Manager and the Team who had worked hard on this important 

Consultation and introduced the Transformation Manager to provide a presentation to 

the Committee. 

The Transformation Manager presented to the Scrutiny Committee a PowerPoint 

presentation on the Draft Waste and Recycling Strategy Consultation Feedback 

Summary. The presentation covered all aspects of the 12 week consultation that was 

undertaken from the 5th February to 29th April 2024, which included the online and 

hard copy surveys including Newsline, Stakeholder engagement, face to face drop-in 

sessions, online drop-in sessions, pop up engagement, spring events and more. 

Members were advised that feedback for the 12 week consultation is the quantitative 

data from the survey and there was also an overview of the main themes arising from 

the qualitive, conversation-based elements of the public consultation. It was 

confirmed that there had been 2,816 responses to the survey and that the statistical 

data presented in the report and presentation related to the survey responses and 

not the qualitive feedback from conversations. Participation in the consultation was 

self-selecting and the data should be considered within this context.  

Members were provided with the results for the strategic priorities, which showed that 

residents supported the overall strategy and that residents felt that participation 

should be as easy as possible, more information or education on what can and what 

cannot be recycled should be given. A further objective was on waste outside the 

home, and it was confirmed that this additional objective would be referred to the 

Cross Party Working Group. 

The Committee were advised that there would be no changes to the food waste 

collection, but it was confirmed that the food waste caddy liner trial had been 

welcomed with 79% of respondents to the survey only confirmed that they regularly 

recycled food waste and explanations were provided for those that did not recycle 

food waste. 

The separation of dry recycling proposal when put to the residents they were asked 

whether they agreed or disagreed that the proposal would help meet statutory targets 

and they were asked what sort of impact this change would have on their household. 

Would it be positive one, negative one or a neutral one. The opinions varied and 57% 

of the residents felt that it would have a negative impact on their household, concerns 

about the number of recycling containers and the weight of them, and properties 

where there are several steps were the common issues that were raised. 

Changes to garden waste proposals was discussed. It was confirmed that the options 

were to go fortnightly or to go fortnightly and seasonally, the same questions were 

put to the residents and the results indicated that 50% did not feel that it would have 

an impact on them. Almost two thirds said they used the collections weekly and 

where they did not, they had alternative ways of disposing of garden waste for 

example using a compost bin or others did not have a garden.  

Residents had indicated that if the collections moved to fortnightly or seasonally there 

were requests to increase the current limit of 4 bags per household and to also 

extend the seasonal collection period to the end of November and offer a collection 

Tudalen 3



service for real Christmas trees. It was confirmed that there were a number of 

mitigations that could be put in place to satisfy residents. 

Members were provided with the results on the residual waste collections proposals 

and findings overall showed that 83% preferred 3 weekly proposals over 4 weekly 

and 17% preferred 4 weekly. 59% disagreed that changes would help meet the 

statutory recycling targets and 21% agreed and 20% did not know. In relation to what 

impact to changing 40% said that it would have 8% said it would have a positive 

impact, 32% said it would have a neutral impact and 60% said it would have a 

negative impact. Examples of different scenarios was provided to the committee from 

the responses. 

The Committee were advised that through a compositional analysis undertaken by 

Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) it identified that on average 31% 

of what goes into our residual waste was food. Feedback from results of survey was 

mixed and comments were provided to the Committee which included quotes such 

as it would depend on the size of the household, it would encourage people to look at 

what they disposed of in the green bin, one size did not fit all and concerns on the 

weight of bins, the smell particularly from nappies and animal waste, street 

cleanliness and increase in recycling contamination. 

Members were advised that a small number of people responded on the Absorbent 

Hygiene Products (AHP) expansion proposal, the majority were not aware of the 

scheme or very few used it. Those that used the service saw the benefits by reducing 

the waste capacity in their green bin. it was not universally welcomed though. 

Following conversations with carers groups identified that this would need to be dealt 

with sensitively. 

The review of the Household Recycling Centres results showed that 88% of 

respondents had used the recycling centres within the last 12 months and feedback 

showed that people valued the household recycling centres and out of all of the 

proposals this would have the most negative impact on households. A number of 

residents would prefer to extend the service not reduce it. Concern was expressed 

about the carbon impact if people had to travel further if a site were to be closed, the 

cost of fuel to travel further and whether there would be an increase in fly tipping. 

The Committee were advised that the recommendations and comments from the 

consultation had been taken back to the Cross Party Members Working Group for 

discussions and then decided on the following recommendations. 

Alternative dry recycling receptacles should be considered on a need’s basis – to 

assist those with disabilities/older people. 

Pursue fortnightly and seasonal garden waste – but extend the season to the end of 

November. Also lift the four-bag limit and possibly use brown recycling bin for this 

purpose. 

Expand AHP collection – with a clear criteria, delivered sensitively. 

Pursue proposal to reduce the number of HRC’s. 

Agree to further discuss an additional strategic recommendation of ‘waste outside the 

home.’ 

 

Tudalen 4



The Chair thanked the Transformation Manager and the Team for an excellent 

consultation and thanked the Members of the Cross-Party Working Group. Members 

of the Scrutiny Committee were invited to ask Questions. 

Concerns were expressed that the containers for separating dry recyclables would be 
difficult for some residents to manage, particularly for those that lived in terraced 
properties, and properties with steps are a particular problem and clarification was 
sought on the types of containers that would be provided. Members were advised 
that the proposals were to provide a mixture of boxes and bags, a box for glass, a 
box for paper, and a bag for plastic and cans and another bag for cardboard.  

 
The Scrutiny Committee suggested re-using the existing brown bins which are 
already paid for. The committee was advised that the new kerbside collection 
vehicles do not have lifts and are side loading. Crews would have to stretch into the 
bins to retrieve bags which would increase the time required and would also 
represent an unacceptable health and safety risk. It might however be possible to 
use them for garden waste which is planned to be collected with a separate vehicle 
which could be fitted with a bin lift. 

 
Members asked what consultation had been done with staff on the potential changes 
to the new collection system, as some of the containers may be heavy to lift. The 
Committee were advised that a health and safety assessment would be carried out 
when the new system of collection was agreed, however, the boxes are limited in 
size to ensure the weight is reasonable and the authority has done and will continue 
to engage with Trade Unions and the Workforce via the established Working Groups.  

 
The stackable trolley boxes used by other Local Authorities was discussed and it was 
suggested this might be an option that could be considered for those who need 
assistance. A Member highlighted the trolley boxes used in a neighbouring Local 
Authority and stated that these can be problematic with plastics overflowing, boxes 
falling out when taken down steps and difficulty obtaining replacement trolleys due to 
costs.  

 
Clarification was sought on the capacity of the proposed new containers compared to 
the existing brown bins which is much more, and the Committee were assured that 
additional boxes and bags could be provided where required. However, Members felt 
that this would only mean additional containers to be transported by Residents and 
placed on the street for collection.  

 
Members highlighted the issue of brown bins left on the streets throughout the week 
and this results in a variety of waste being disposed of by passers-by, the option of 
lockable containers was suggested as a means of preventing this and the Committee 
were advised that this would need to be checked to see if it was an option.  

 
A Member enquired if we could continue to use brown bins because of the impact on 
quality of recycling since enforcement on contamination had been introduced, or are 
we being driven to separate the recyclables as they are collected by Welsh 
Government in accordance with its Blueprint. The Committee were advised that if co-
mingling were to continue there would be no income benefit from selling recycled 
waste, which would be available if it were separated, and the recycling performance 
targets were unlikely to be achieved.  

 
A Member asked how we enforced the recycling at present and was assured that 
since the changes on enforcement were introduced, recycling bins that are 
contaminated are issued with stickers and this was followed by visits to homes and 

Tudalen 5



could result in fines. In January, there were 890 contaminated bins in one week and 
this had now reduced significantly with numbers in the 400’s.  

 
Members expressed concerns that older persons or those with disabilities would find 
it difficult to carry several containers and asked if an evaluation of the impact had 
been carried out. It was also suggested that this may require additional resource to 
support increased requests for assisted collections. The Committee was advised that 
the Authority already provided assisted collections with each request being assessed 
during a visit to the resident (a needs-based assessment). It was not suggested that 
this would change following the introduction of new models of collection.  
 
A Member questioned why all waste was not collected via rear lanes and were 
advised that some 20 years ago a Health and Safety report had been produced on 
rear lane collections in the County Borough and in some cases rear lane collection 
ceased completely. This was because lanes are very narrow, drivers have limited 
visibility for pedestrians etc. The HSE allowed it to continue in other lanes but on the 
proviso that the number of collections did not increase, thereby increasing the risk. 
The Authority was therefore not able to collect recycling or food/garden waste from 
rear lanes.  

 

Concerns were expressed regarding the recent changes at Household Recycling 
Centre’s (HRC) requiring separation of recycling, and it was suggested that this has 
led to increased fly tipping. It was also suggested that people were also using 
roadside bins to dispose of waste. Therefore, if a HRC was closed there was a 
perception that this would increase even further and before any closures are 
considered a full assessment needed to be undertaken which considers the 
geography of the location of the HRC as well as the socio-economic factors in the 
local area. The Committee was informed that initial indicators were that the changes 
at HRC sites had not resulted in increased fly tipping, there was already instances of 
waste disposal in roadside bins before the changes and indications are that this 
waste came from businesses. Assurances were provided that no immediate 
decisions on the HRC site at Rhymney would be made until the A469 road was fully 
operational.  

 
A Member highlighted that the reason for the lower tonnage at Rhymney and 
Penmaen, was because they cannot receive the full range of recycling. The 
Committee were advised that the reason that the range of options for recycling waste 
at these sites are limited was due to the size of the site. The sites have been 
optimised as much as possible, there have also been problems at Rhymney with the 
cardboard container being set alight. The Members queried the separating of carpets 
and mattresses from residual waste containers and was advised that this had been 
done while we looked to setup a means to recycle them.  

 
A Member queried paperless billing impact on identification at HRC’s and was 
advised there were other methods such as driving licences as a proof of address.  

 

Members agreed that any proposals for hygiene waste collection would need to be 
done sensitively and would need to consider Equalities and Human Rights 
Legislation. The Committee discussed the types of containers to be used for the 
hygiene waste and were advised that many local authorities used the purple bags 
that are collected weekly. Members felt that they need somewhere to be stored whilst 
awaiting pickup, people would not want to keep them in their homes, and bags are 
vulnerable if left outside, in many cases they would have to be carried through the 
house for disposal at the front of the property. Members were assured that the many 

Tudalen 6



aspects of the new strategy would require further reports on specifics, the strategy 
was the overarching principle for the authority to move towards the Blueprint.  

 
A Member asked what the impact on recycling was when we moved to fortnightly and 
what would be the potential impact of moving to four weekly collections. The 
Committee were advised that the figure for fortnightly was not available at the 
meeting but could be checked. However, if we moved to three weekly it was 
estimated that there would be a 2-3% improvement in recycling and a four weekly 
collection would result in around a 5% improvement. This would still not take us to 
70% target and there was no room for further improvement due to no new 
infrastructure. Changing frequency of residual waste collections while keeping the 
existing recycling system would also risk increasing the levels of contamination in the 
recycling bins. 

 
Also, Welsh Government have not said what will be next in terms of targets, but we 
know there was a drive towards net 0% carbon emissions target by 2030 and zero 
waste by 2050. The reduction in the frequency of collection helps with carbon impact 
of transportation and the biggest impact of the Welsh Government blueprint for 
source segregated recycling was better quality recycling which could be used again 
in high value products for example recycled glass being used again in glass 
manufacture rather than the lower quality use as aggregate. 

 

Concerns were raised on the significant costs outlined in the report and a Member 
asked if the main factor was the new infrastructure required. The Committee was 
advised that the acquisition and development of the new site was the main reason for 
the costs but there were other costs associated with the changes required including 
vehicles and containers.  

 
Members sought clarification on where the funding would come from to meet the 
estimated costs. The Committee were advised that Welsh Government had indicated 
that they would support a percentage of capital costs for infrastructure and vehicles. 
They were pushing Local Authorities to move towards the blueprint and the 
significant costs were because Caerphilly does not have the infrastructure capable of 
delivering the change for example, a sufficiently sized depot to host the large number 
of vehicles required and a recycling facility for storage, baling and bulking 
recyclables. 

 
A Member highlighted that it appeared that the Blueprint was something we must do, 
costs were significant at a time of severe financial pressures with no guarantees that 
it would work, so we may be spending £45m to save a £2m fine.  

 

Members enquired on what impact the trial of free food waste caddy bags has had 
and were advised that during the period January to March 2024 there had been an 
11% increase in food waste tonnage compared to the same period last year. The 
early indications for the period April to May was that the increase was 25%. These 
figures are produced quarterly once they had been verified by NRW. The Committee 
were pleased to hear of the improvement and would like to see these figures 
regularly. 

 
Following consideration of the report it was  

 RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that: 

1.   The key findings from the 12-week public consultation on the 
Council’s Draft Waste Strategy and subsequent comments from the 

Tudalen 7



Cross-Party Member Working Group be considered. This included 
some initial operational recommendations – described in detail at 
5.9 of the Officers report - to help mitigate the public impact of some 
of the proposals.  

 
2.   The views of the Joint Scrutiny Committee provided be noted on the 

proposed next steps in shaping the final draft of the waste strategy 
using feedback from the public consultation, prior to Cabinet and 
Council consideration.  

 
3.  The latest financial implications associated with the delivery of the 

Waste Strategy be considered and the Joint Scrutiny Committee 
noted the update on the development of the Outline Business Case 
(OBC) and discussions with Welsh Government within the financial 
implications section of the Officer’s Report (Section 8). 

 

 
 
The meeting closed at 19:01 p.m. 
 
Approved as a correct record, subject to any amendments agreed and recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting held on the 24th September 2024.  
 
 
 

 
__________________ 

CHAIR 
 

Tudalen 8



 
 

 

 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD IN PENALLTA HOUSE AND 

VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON THURSDAY 18TH JULY 2024 AT 5.00PM 

  

PRESENT:  
 

Councillor G. Johnston (Chair) 

Councillor A. McConnell (Vice Chair)  
 

Councillors: 
 

M. Adams, E.M. Aldworth, A. Angel, C. Bishop, A. Broughton-Pettit, M. Chacon-

Dawson, R. Chapman, C.J. Cuss, E. Davies, N. Dix, C. Elsbury, G. Enright, K. 
Etheridge, M. Evans, A. Farina-Childs, A. Gair, D. Harse, T. Heron, A. Hussey, D. 

Ingram-Jones, L. Jeremiah,  J. Jones, B. Miles, B. Owen, M. Powell, H. Pritchard, J.A. 
Pritchard, J. Roberts, R. Saralis, J. Simmonds, L.G. Whittle, A. Whitcombe, S. 
Williams, W. Williams, J. Winslade, K. Woodland and C. Wright.  

 
Cabinet Members: 

 
Councillors S. Morgan (Leader of Council), C. Andrews (Education and Communities), 
S. Cook (Housing), N. George (Corporate Services, Property and Highways), P. 

Leonard (Planning and Public Protection), C. Morgan (Waste, Leisure, and Green 
Spaces) and J. Pritchard (Prosperity, Regeneration and Climate Change)  

 
Together with: - 

 

Officers:  D. Street (Deputy Chief Executive), R. Edmunds (Corporate Director 
Education and Corporate Services), M. S. Williams (Corporate Director Economy and 

Environment), G. Jenkins (Interim Director of Social Services), S. Harris (Head of 
Financial Services and Section 151 Officer), R. Tranter (Head of Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer), L. Sykes (Deputy Head of Financial Services and Section 151 

Officer), R. Hartshorn (Head of Public Protection Community and Leisure Services), L. 
Lucas (Head of Customer and Digital Services), J. Williams (Assistant Director – Adult 

Services), K. Cole (Chief Education Officer), S. Richards (Head of Education Planning 
and Strategy), A. West (Place Shaping and Sustainable Communities for Learning 
Service Manager), R. Roberts (Business Improvement Manager), K. Peters 

(Corporate Policy Manager), S. Mutch (Early Years Manager), J. Pearce (Business 
Improvement Officer), A. Bray (Business Improvement Officer), A. Dallimore 

(Regeneration Services Manager), M. Jacques (Scrutiny Officer), S. Hughes 
(Committee Services Officer) and A. Jones (Committee Services Officer). 
 

Also Present: 
 

Tudalen 9

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 4



 
 

Co-opted Members:  T. Millington (Parent Governor Representative) 

 
RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and 
recorded and would be made available following the meeting via the Council’s website 

– Click Here to View.  Members were advised that voting on decisions would be taken 
verbally.  

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P. Cook, D. Cushing, T. D. 
Davies MBE, G. Ead, C. Forehead, J. E. Fussell, C. Gordon, M. James, S. Kent, A. 

Leonard, C. Mann, T. Parry, L. Phipps, D. W. R. Preece, J. Rao, J. Reed, J. Scriven, S. 
Skivens, J. Taylor, C. Thomas, M. Western (Cardiff ROC Archdiocesan Commission for 

Education Representative) and Mrs P. Ireland (NEU) 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

There were no declarations of interest received at the commencement or during the 
course of the meeting. 

 
 

 REPORTS OF OFFICERS 

 

  
3. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENTS AND DIRECTORATE 

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENTS 

 

The Cabinet Member for Prosperity, Regeneration and Climate Change introduced 
the report to the Joint Scrutiny Committee on the Corporate Performance 
Assessment (CPA) which was part of the Councils Performance Framework. The 

CPA provided a summary of information and analysis for the period April 2023 to 
March 2024. The CPA forms part of the overall Council ‘self-assessment’ activity, of 

which members were invited to discuss, challenge, and scrutinise the information in 
the CPA.  
 

Members were advised that the dashboard within the report contained information 
on the Council's finances, workforce and risks over the last 12 months, and 

Director’s summaries that captured what had gone well and also areas for 
improvement across the 5 Directorates which were Education, Social Care, 
Economy and Environment, Housing and Corporate Services. The Committee were 

advised that the Directors would provide a list of three positives and three areas for 
improvement for their relevant Directorate and then Members would have the 

opportunity to ask any questions. It was confirmed that the Performance 
Management approach was currently being refined and there would be a new 
process and set of dashboards in use over the coming months. 

 
The Director for Education and Corporate Services confirmed that Education had 

recently undergone its Estyn inspection and the results would be shared in 

Tudalen 10

https://civico.net/caerphilly


 
 

September. The profile of the Estyn inspections was the best way of assessing 

performance and Caerphilly County Borough’s profile was very good. 
 
The Directors provided examples of where each of their Directorates performed 

well, and the areas identified for improvement. 
 

Education – Members heard how best practice methods identified following school 
inspections were beginning to deliver positive results, how a revised attendance 
strategy was improving attendance rates, and that safeguarding procedures were 

considered to be effective. Areas for concern included exclusion rates, 
implementing the full breadth of Additional Learning Needs (ALN) legislation, and 

the impact of challenging public sector finances.  
 
Housing – it was highlighted to the Committee that full planning permission had 

been achieved for around 130 new homes in Oakdale and Ty Darren, and a 
significant number of empty properties had been brought back into use for both 

rental and sale via the National Empty Property Homes grant scheme.  
 
Members heard about the significant challenges around finding temporary 

accommodation for the homeless. Areas for improvement highlighted were the 
significant backlog of repairs and voids, challenges around recruitment and 

retention, and improving Customer Service.  
 
Social Services – Members heard how the number of children looked after has 

remained stable and those on the Child Protection Register had decreased 
significantly due to work by prevention and family support services. The Director also 

highlighted that the overall hours of Domiciliary Care waiting to be allocated had 
dropped steadily throughout the year and was now around 70 hours a week.  
 

Areas for improvement identified focussed on recruitment and retention of staff and 
carers, and the procurement and implementation of a new social care IT system. 

 
Economy and Environment – it was highlighted that support for business through the 
Shared Prosperity Fund (SPF) had been effective, significant infrastructure 

investment had been made in 3G pitches for example, and a new Waste Strategy for 
CCBC was currently going through a consultation stage.  

 
Areas for improvement were highlighted within Fleet Management, and the delivery 
timetable on the secondary placement Local Development Plan (LDP).  

 
Corporate Services – highlights included the development of a new Corporate Plan for 

the period 2023 to 2028, the successful implementation of the Universal Free School 
Meals provision across the Council’s infant and primary schools, and successful 
migration of Council Tax and HR systems to the Cloud.  

 
Areas for improvement identified by the Director was that Audit Wales held a review on 

Service Users perspective and concluded the Council did not provide enough 
performance information on service users perspective to leaders and members, 
challenges of accessing certain parts of the organisation via the telephone, and the 

level of staff sickness/absence rates.  
 

The Chair thanked the Directors and invited questions from Members. 

Tudalen 11



 
 

 

A Member commented that it was good to hear that private properties were being 
brought back into service but queried if the length of the process could be shortened. 
The Deputy Chief Executive agreed that there were a large number of voids and 

highlighted the progress being made to address the situation.  
 

The Cabinet Member for Housing confirmed that there were a number of reasons for 
the delays. Committee heard that following the Covid-19 pandemic there had been an 
inability for Officers to access properties which caused a massive backlog in surveys 

for void properties. There were also 33 WHQS compliance checks that had to be 
conducted and under recent changes to WHQS this had increased to 44 checks.  

 
Concern was expressed that there was no money for demographic growth in social 
care which could impinge on the health service particularly in relation to discharges 

where people cannot leave hospital because Local Authorities were not able to 
provide packages of care. It was hoped that funding would come from Westminster to 

the Welsh Government to assist with this. The Assistant Director for Social Services 
acknowledged that the known growth within social care across both adult and children 
services had been funded to date and the expectation was that any additional growth 

would be managed within the budget. The Assistant Director provided reassurances 
that financial challenges had not impacted on hospital discharges to date.  

 
A Member sought clarification on the total number of void properties and also queried 
if improved attendance at schools had led to better exam results. The Director agreed 

that the issue of empty properties was complicated due to probate issues and family 
disputes for example. The Cabinet Member for Housing then advised that reserves 

had been used to create a dedicated Empty Properties Team which engaged with 
property owners in an attempt to get properties back in use. Members heard how the 
team had engaged with 434 properties over the last two years, and it was confirmed 

that the total number of voids was 260. 
 

In terms of the query on improved exam pass rates the Chief Education Officer 
confirmed that the advice provided from Estyn and Welsh Government was that 
Councils should not collect results and aggregate them into any sort of league table, 

and this had been the case for several years.  
 

A Member observed that the report was very well summarised, succinct, and found 
the charts, summaries, and pictorial presentations to be very useful in understanding 
the Council’s position. The Member queried why there were a large number of 

Corporate Complaints for Economy and Environment that went to stage 2 of the 
process. He also asked if any contingency plans are built into the Social Services 

budget in the event that future government grants are not sufficient. It was confirmed 
that there were a number of reasons why the complaints are dealt with at stage 2 and 
a full detailed breakdown including lessons learned for each directorate is reported to 

the Governance and Audit Committee by the Deputy Monitoring Officer.  
 

Members were advised that finance professionals were lobbying Welsh Government 
on behalf of Local Authorities to have more specific grants transferred into the 
financial settlement and that whilst there has been some progress there is still much 

to do. In relation to contingency plans in the event of grants being withdrawn officers 
advised that the current working assumption is that service areas would have to 

manage the financial impact. 

Tudalen 12



 
 

 

A Member sought clarification on the position on the buyback project in relation to PFI 
for Schools. The Section 151 Officer confirmed that there was a key piece of financial 
information needed from the PFI contractor that has not been provided and a further 

meeting with the contractor is scheduled for later this month. The negotiations with the 
PFI were ongoing and it was therefore not appropriate to discuss this further. 

Members were informed that as previously agreed by Council the final decision to 
terminate will be taken using delegated powers with a report subsequently being 
presented to Scrutiny for information. 

 
On budgetary planning the Head of Education, Planning and Strategy advised that 

schools are offered a 50/50 scheme in that if schools felt that they had money to put 
into specific projects, the Council would offer to match that funding in certain 
circumstances.  

 
A Member enquired how schools were being supported in meeting ALN needs. The 

Member also queried if the Council was considering changing the transport to schools 
arrangements. The Director confirmed that in terms of home to school transport a 
decision was going to Cabinet next week to look at both the statutory and 

discretionary provision, depending on Cabinet approval a period of consultation would 
follow. In terms of ALN it was clarified that the budget was not being restricted in this 

area despite the budgetary challenges. The Chief Education Officer confirmed that of 
the 33 schools inspected all except one had all been praised for the work in ALN.  
 

An observation was made by a Member on the retention and recruitment data within 
the report and he requested that more information be brought to Members this year to 

show the Council’s position in this area. The Director confirmed that a detailed report 
would be submitted to the Corporate and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee in 
September 2024.  

 
A Member raised concerns about the stigma associated with the take up free of 

school meals, and also highlighted an issue with potholes and flooding in his ward. 
The Head of Education, Planning and Strategy confirmed that every child at primary 
school level was entitled to free school meals and a new menu launched by catering 

had increased take up. The use of a cashless system by Secondary Schools had also 
helped to address stigma issues. In relation to the potholes and issues with flooding 

the Director explained that there was a Flood Risk Management Strategy in place, 
and he outlined that the Council had to bid for funding from the Welsh Government.  
 

A Member wished to put on record their thanks for the professional support received 
from carers and social care workers over the last few months as their family had been 

using the service. Clarity was sought on the difference in pay for carers between 
CCBC and other local authorities. The Director thanked the Member for the positive 
feedback and confirmed that it would be fed back to the staff. He advised that all 

Councils are affected by salary scales and are struggling within key areas. Members 
heard how there were good HR policies in place at CCBC in terms of flexible working 

hours, annual leave, and he gave examples of staff who had returned to employment 
with the Council because of these packages and working conditions. 
 

Clarification was sought on whether mental health was taken into consideration 
equally with physical disabilities when assessments were undertaken for hospital 

Tudalen 13



 
 

discharges. Assurances were provided that mental health was considered equally in 

any assessment.  
 
The Chair thanked Members and Officers  

 
RESOLVED that the Joint Scrutiny Members reviewed the CPA and discussed, 

challenged, and scrutinised the information contained within the Officers report. 
 
 

 
4. MOBILISING TEAM CAERPHILLY – PLACE SHAPING 

 

The Leader of the Council confirmed the purpose of the report was to update 
Members on the current Place Shaping Programme. The Place Shaping programme 

was the Council’s strategy for delivering capital projects such as new schools, housing 
developments, sports facilities, and improvements to infrastructure. This report sought 

endorsement from Joint Scrutiny Committee on the recommendations to Cabinet to 
allocate funding to the projects in the report. The Council Leader advised that Cabinet 
have had to make difficult choices to prioritise which projects should be taken forward 

and which would have to be added to a reserve list awaiting funding. Prioritising 
schemes that had match funding in order to maximise the Council’s return on 

investment by using the £9.2 million of available funding was referenced in the report. 
 
The report referenced a £7.2 million contingency which represents 5% of the Council’s 

overall capital programme to manage any unexpected priorities or unmanageable cost 
escalations within the program.  

 
A Member sought clarification on the benefits to town centres. The Director confirmed 
that Place Making plans for our town centres are a condition of accessing Welsh 

Government town centre funding, so the Council had a town centre plan called 
Caerphilly 2035, and he also advised that plans for Blackwood and Bargoed were also 

in the development stage.  
 
The Deputy Leader advised that these plans were crucial in order to attract external 

funding.  
 

As there were no further questions the Chair thanked the Committee and moved to 
the recommendations. 

 

The Joint Scrutiny Committee considered the report, and it was moved and seconded 
that the recommendations in the Officers report be approved, By way of verbal vote 

(and in noting there were 33 for, 0 against, and 0 abstentions), this was agreed 
unanimously. 

 

     
RECOMMENDED to Cabinet that: - 

  
1 Scrutiny Members noted the information contained in the report. 

 

2 Scrutiny Members supported a recommendation to Cabinet to utilise 
£9.211m of unallocated capital funding and supported the progression 

of the projects set out in 5.5.2. 

Tudalen 14



 
 

 

3 Scrutiny Members supported a recommendation to Cabinet to agree 
that £7.202m of the unallocated capital be set aside as contingency 
for the overall Capital Programme. 

 

  

 The meeting closed at 18:32 pm 
 

 
Approved as a correct record, subject to any amendments agreed and recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting held on 24th September 2024. 

 
__________________ 

CHAIR 
 

Tudalen 15



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Tudalen 16



 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTTEE – 24TH SEPTEMBER 2024 
 

 

SUBJECT:  MOBILISING TEAM CAERPHILLY – FUTURE PROVISION OF 
MEALS DIRECT AND THE HIVE CAFÉ, TY PENALLTA  

 

 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Members on the outcome of the 
Mobilising Team Caerphilly (MTC) consultation on the future provision of 

Meals Direct and the catering offer at Ty Penallta, known as the Hive Café, 
and to present a Business Case and set of recommendations for 

consideration.  
 

1.2 This report will be determined at Cabinet on 25 September 2024 and officers 

will provide a verbal update on the discussion that takes place at Joint 
Scrutiny during the Cabinet meeting.  

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1  There is currently significant pressure on public finances across the UK. Central 

Government, Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing 

challenges where the costs of delivering services have accelerated far beyond 

the level of funding available to the sector.  

 

2.2 The impact of these challenges upon Caerphilly County Borough Council have 

seen the Council facing the need to make £65m of savings during the period 

2024/25 through to 2026/27 essentially just to stand still. Having identified a 

range of permanent savings as part of the 2024/25 budget setting process 

totalling circa £20m, the remaining balance of £45m must be found over the 

next two years. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 17

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



2.3 In July 20223, the Council launched its Transformation Portfolio known as 

Mobilising Team Caerphilly. The Portfolio consists of two component 

programmes: Service Transformation and Place Shaping. The Service 

Transformation Programme is primarily charged with delivering the necessary 

change across the Council to meet the £45m savings requirement.  

 

2.4 Service Transformation includes several workstreams with a key focus on, 

Customer Journey, Collaboration and Partnerships, People and Ways of 

Working and Unavoidable Change. There are currently 15 projects ‘in flight’  

which are focused on contributing towards the financial target and transforming 

service. 

 

2.5 Each Project is being developed using Agile Programme Management methods 

while, the Portfolio as a whole, is supported by a Portfolio Management Office 

(PMO). The PMO is responsible for developing and ensuring adherence to 

agreed governance arrangements and decision making, as well as driving and 

tracking benefits realisation. 

 
2.6 Portfolio governance arrangements are built upon the Welsh Government 

endorsed HM Treasury Green Book business case guidance and five case 
model (cases for Strategic, Economic, Commercial, Financial and 

Management). On this basis, each of the 15 projects will be underpinned by a 
business case that covers these aspects. 

 

2.7 This report focuses on the Council’s provision of Meals Direct and its catering 

offer at Ty Penallta, known as the Hive Café. The Business Case summary for 

Catering and Meals Direct (attached at Appendix 1) has been developed over 

many months through a Project Lead working with a multi-disciplinary project 

team and with support from a Project Sponsor. 

 
2.8 The Strategic Outline Business Case for each Project considers several options 

for the service under review:  

 
 Do Nothing 

 Stop 
 Reduce service to minimal legally compliant baseline  
 Improve and modernise the service 

 Alternative delivery model 
 

2.9 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the Hive Café and Meals Direct were 
presented to cabinet members at a Policy Development Meeting (PDM) in April 
2024. During this discussion, the options set out in 2.8 were explored and 

discussed before PDM gave an initial direction on the option that the Project 
Team should develop.  

 

2.10 The option selected for Meals Direct, and the Hive Café was as follows:  
 
 STOP non-statutory services (Meals Direct and Hive Café) whilst continuing to 

Tudalen 18



explore all other statutory catering services to improve / modernise. 
 

2.11 PDM acknowledged the size and scale of the subsidy that underpinned the 
service and that the service was non statutory in nature. The development of 

an Outline Business Case that focused on stopping the service was considered 
at that point, the most appropriate option. 

 

2.12 An Outline Business Case was subsequently developed that focused on 
stopping the provision of Meals Direct and the Hive Café. The findings of the 

Outline Business Case (OBC) for Meals Direct and the Hive Café were 
presented at a series of PDMs in July 2024.  

 

2.13 The OBC, again using the Treasury Five Case model, covered the Strategic, 
Management, Economic, Financial and Commercial aspects of stopping the 

service. At PDM, support was received to progress to a public consultation on 
the cessation of the Hive Café and Meals Direct service.  

 

2.14 The consultation would take place over a six-week period and would seek to 
establish the views of the public, staff and relevant stakeholders on the closure 

of the service by the end of November 2024.  
 
2.15 This report provides Joint Scrutiny with a Business Case, Integrated Impact 

Assessment (IIA), the outcomes of the consultation and a set of 
recommendations that form the basis of a Cabinet decision on the continuation 

of the service. These aspects are summarised in the main body and attached 
in full within the appendices. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

3.1 Joint Scrutiny are asked to consider the Business Case, the Consultation 
Report and the Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) set out within this report 

and to ask any questions or provide any comments as appropriate. 
 
3.2 To support, via a vote, one of the three recommendations that will be put before 

Cabinet on the 25 September: 
 

1) Cease the provision at the Hive Café, Ty Penallta and transition Meals 
Direct service users to other providers. 
 

2) Cease the provision at the Hive Café, Ty Penallta, but ask officers to 
develop a range of further options to make the delivery of meals direct 

sustainable over the long-term. 
 
3) Continue with the existing provision at the Hive Café, Ty Penallta and the 

existing approach to Meals Direct. 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 19



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

4.1 Caerphilly CBC needs to identify further financial savings in the order of 
£45million over the next two financial years. It will not be possible to make this 

level of financial saving without undertaking significant transformation across 
all parts of the Council.  

 
 

5. THE REPORT 
 

5.1 Public finances across the UK are under significant strain. Central Government, 

Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing challenges relating 

to the costs of delivering services far outweighing the level of funding available 

to the sector. On this basis, public sector bodies find themselves having to 

transform their provision, prioritise the delivery of certain services and, in some 

cases, cease services all together. 

 

5.2 Having identified a range of permanent savings as part of the 2024/25 budget 

setting process totalling circa £20m, the Council now needs to find the 

remaining balance of £45m over the next two years. This equates to around 

10% of the Council’s overall net revenue budget. With 78% of the Council’s 

budget spent on Education, Social Services, Waste and Infrastructure, the 

Council is facing some extremely difficult choices. 

 

5.3 The Council’s Transformation Portfolio, Mobilising Team Caerphilly, is now 

becoming embedded as part of the Council’s core business. The Service 

Transformation Programme aspect of the Portfolio is charged with delivering 

the necessary change across the Council to meet the £45m savings 

requirement. At present, there are 15 ‘in flight’ projects which are focused on 

contributing towards the financial target and transforming service. Every aspect 

of Council business will, at some point, form part of Mobilising Team Caerphilly. 

 

5.4 The Projects are being developed through Agile Programme Management 

principles and, the Portfolio as a whole, is supported by a Portfolio Management 

Office (PMO). The PMO is responsible for developing and ensuring that 

Mobilising Team Caerphilly is managed within agreed governance principles 

and that all benefits can be tracked and realised as a contribution toward the 

£45m savings requirement. 

 

5.5 Mobilising Team Caerphilly’s Portfolio governance arrangements are built upon 
the Welsh Government endorsed HM Treasury Green Book business case 

guidance and five case model. The five case model covers the Strategic, 
Economic, Commercial, Financial and Management cases associated with 
change. Each of the 15 projects referenced in 5.3 are underpinned by a 

business case that covers these respective cases. 

 

5.6 This report focuses on the Council’s provision of Meals Direct and its catering 

offer at Ty Penallta, known as the Hive Café. The Business Case summary for 

Tudalen 20



Catering (attached at Appendix 1) has been developed over many months 

through a multi-disciplinary Project Team, a Project Lead and with support from 

a Project Sponsor. The Team have developed the project through an initial 

Strategic Outline Business case on to an Outline Business Case towards the 

case set out within this report. 
  

5.7 The Strategic Outline Business Case for each Project considers several options 
for the service under review, typically:  

 

 Do Nothing 
 Stop 

 Reduce service to minimal legally compliant baseline  
 Improve and modernise the service 
 Alternative delivery model 

 
 Strategic Outline Business Case Stage 

 

5.8 The Strategic Outline Business Case for the Hive and Meals Direct was 
developed in the early part of 2024 and was presented to cabinet members at 

a Policy Development Meeting (PDM) in April 2024. During this discussion, the 
options set out in 5.7 were explored and discussed in some detail. The option 

that PDM preferred for onward development to an Outline Business Case 
(OBC) was Stop, specifically as follows:  

 
 STOP non-statutory services (Meals Direct and Hive Café) whilst continuing to 

explore all other statutory catering services to improve / modernise. 

 
5.9 PDM acknowledged the size and scale of the subsidy that underpinned the 

service and that the service was non statutory in nature. Summary detail from 

the financial case is set out in Table 1, section 8 of this report. The development 
of an OBC that focused on the option of stopping the service was requested by 

PDM, albeit on the basis that Meals Direct service users would transition to 
other providers. 

 
 Outline Business Case Stage 

 

5.10 An OBC was subsequently developed by the Project Teams under the 
stewardship of the Project Sponsor. The OBC focused singularly on stopping 
the provision of Meals Direct and the Hive. The findings of the Outline Business 

Case for Meals Direct and the Hive Café were then presented and discussed 
during a series of PDMs in July 2024.  

 
5.11 The OBC, again using the Treasury Five Case model, covered the Strategic, 

Management, Economic, Financial and Commercial aspects of stopping the 

service. The OBC also presented four different time frames for stopping the 
service, which would form the basis of the consultation. 

 
5.12 The OBC is attached at Appendix 1 with a summary extract set out against the 

five cases below: 

 

Tudalen 21



Strategic Case: Investment objective to minimise further expenditure on non-

statutory Catering services to operate at cost neutral for the Council. This may 

include ceasing the provision of the Hive Café and transitioning Meals Direct 
service users to alternative providers and or provision. The strategic benefit is 

a per annum saving to the Council of £444,094. 
 
 Management Case: The project forms part of the Mobilising Team Caerphilly 

portfolio of work. The Portfolio Management Office is responsible for 
governing the change approvals process. The key project controls are: 

change management, benefits realisation, risk management, post-
implementation and evaluation and contingency and planning arrangements.   

 
 Economic Case: Up to four Outline Business Case options were reviewed 

and considered by PDM, all having a different impact on the Net Present 

Value (or savings that could be realised). These included: 
 

1) consult from July 2024 with a view to potential service cessation at the 

end of October 24 
2) consult from July 2024 with a view to potential service cessation at the 

end of November 24  
3) consult from September 24 with a view to potential service cessation at 

the end of December 24  

4) consult as part of annual budget consultation with potential service 
cessation from the end of March 2025. 

  
Financial Case: Considers capital and revenue benefits and dis-benefits. A 

financial case was created for each of the four options that included 

associated one-off costs, benefits cost ratio and Net Present Value modelled 
up to 2030. 

 
Commercial Case: No procurement requirement was identified; however, a 

review of existing commercial agreements has been considered as part of the 

Outline Business Case. 
 

5.13 Following detailed discussion and consideration of the five-case model set out 
within the OBC and the consultation options set out in 5.12, PDM determined 
that the favoured option would be option 2, to consult from July 2024 with a 

view to potential service cessation of the Hive Café and Meals Direct at the end 
of November 2024. Again, PDM made it clear that Meals Direct service users 

would be transitioned to other providers by the point the service was ceased. 
 
 Consultation Stage 

 
5.14 The consultation took place between 30 July 2024 and 10 September 2024. 

Designed to gain an understanding of the impact of the proposal on key 
stakeholders, the consultation focussed primarily on Meals Direct customers, 
their families and council staff.  Where individuals identified that the proposal 

would have a negative impact on themselves or their family, the consultation 
sought to help understand the reasons for this and to identify any possible 

mitigation that could be put in place to reduce that impact.  

Tudalen 22



 .  
5.15 To enable all those who wished to give their views to take part, a survey was 

made available bilingually and in a variety of formats including paper formats.   
 

The consultation was promoted in a variety of ways and made available 
across a range of platforms.  The primary consultation tool was a 
questionnaire, but participants were encouraged to respond in a number of 

ways.  Meals direct users and their families were contacted directly to inform 
them of the consultation and paper copies of the surveys were sent to each 

service user and next of kin with a free return envelope. Contact numbers and 
email addresses were also provided for anyone who needed support in 
completing the survey or had any general queries or concerns. 

 
5.16 Other methods that were used to promote the consultation included:  

 
A dedicated web page linked directly from the home page of the council’s 
website. 

 
 Link to web Page  

 
A media release at the launch of the consultation  
 

Link to media release  
 

 Regular social media posts throughout the consultation period. 
 Posters displayed in libraries and other public facing council venues 

promoting a series of public drop-in sessions. 

 Targeted e-mails to stakeholder groups. 
 As above, potentially affected staff were informed and engaged directly by 

their management team, Human Resources and supported by Trade 
Unions. 

 
5.17  Feedback from consultation process 

 Meals Direct: 

 703 surveys were completed and received by the closing date. The largest 

group to respond to the survey were family members of service users and 

“other” interested people (members of the general public, people who may 
benefit from Meals Direct in future etc). 106 service users themselves 
responded to the consultation. The average age of service users who 

responded to the survey was 82. The average age of family members/all 
respondents who completed the survey was 62. 
 

Just over half (51%) of respondents had a disability, while among service users 

this was 89%.  Of those with a disability, 93% indicated that this impacted on 
their day-to-day activity.  The figure increases to 98.9% of those who are 

service users. 
 

Tudalen 23

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/news/news-bulletin/july-2024/leader-warns-of-difficult-decisions-ahead


Around two thirds of customers receive Meals Direct 5 days a week.  A further 
12% receive meals 5 days a week and frozen on weekends while 21% receive 

meals between 1 and 4 days a week.  The remaining 1% received frozen meals 
only.   
 

Overall, 95% of respondents disagreed with the proposal. 
 

By far, the overarching theme was the need to protect vulnerable/older people 

within our community with many expressing the view that this service is vital, 
and that older people should be entitled to this provision. This is particularly the 
case for users who are disabled or have cognitive impairment (memory 

loss/Dementia) and are unable to cook for themselves.  
 

Other key themes that emerged from respondents include: 
 

 The absence of a like-for-like alternative - a hot meal. 

 The additional benefits that the service provides (more than a meal) to 
service users, such as tackling social isolation, maintaining independence 

and safeguarding. 
 A number felt that the council should use resources more effectively and 

save money elsewhere. 
 Some felt there will be an additional impact on social services / health 

services if this preventative service is removed and that Meals Direct can 

aid hospital discharge. 
 Many felt that the food provided is of a good quality, nutritionally balanced 

and offers good value for money food, with alternative providers being 
more expensive.  

 A number indicated that they would be happy to pay more (for a service 

that offers peace of mind to family members). 
 Some felt the proposal would result in job losses, and a small number 

questioned how they would access provision in the future if the service is 
removed. 

 A smaller number of respondents confirmed they agreed with the proposal, 

suggesting that affordable alternatives are available, the food currently 
offered is of poor quality, that they appreciate that financial savings need 

to be made and that often delivery times of the meals can be inconvenient. 
 
One of the questions sought to understand what impacts the proposal may 

have on Meals Direct customers and their families. Many felt that removing 
the service may mean they’d be unable to stay in their homes as they’d be 

unable to cook for themselves/heat up a meal and so would require a wider 
care package. Many also felt they would eat a less nutritionally balanced diet 
if the service ceased in its current form. Social isolation and the impact on 

cognitive, emotional and physical wellbeing was also highlighted, as Meals 
Direct is seen by customers as ‘much more than just a daily meal’.  

 
A number of customers highlighted that family would not be able to support 
them daily due to work commitments or distance. Some felt there would be a 

negative short-term impact but that they would adjust if necessary although 
many were concerned about potential job losses for staff. A large number felt 

Tudalen 24



that alternative providers are too costly, while some felt that the proposal 
highlighted that older generations are being ignored.  

 
A further question sought to ask how the potential impacts of the proposal 

could be mitigated for customers and their families. By far, the most widely 
given response was to keep the service is at is. A number of other themes did 
emerge however including a request to provide a list of alternatives, keep the 

service but run it differently, make savings in other areas of the council and 
assess the support needs of current users.  

 
Correspondence was also received on the Meals Direct proposal from a 
number of other interested parties. The themes highlighted by these is in line 

with those identified through the consultation, and these, along with all 
comments received can be found at:  

 
Link to correspondence   

 

The Hive Café at Penallta House 
 

A total of 217 responses were received to the survey. The vast majority of the 

responses came from staff and the main place of work for 77% of respondents 

was Penallta House. Of those indicated that they visit the Hive to buy 

something, 73% visit at least once a week. 

71% of those who responded to the question disagreed with the 

proposal to close the Hive. 17% agreed and 12% were unsure.   

As expected, those who visit the Hive most regularly were more likely to 

disagree with the proposal.  

 

The main reasons given for staff disagreeing with the Hive proposal was the 
negative impact on staff in terms of wellbeing, social interaction and the 
potential loss of valued colleagues, as well as a negative financial impact if jobs 

were lost. Others felt it would remove the provision of a basic need, and that it 
is well used and of good quality. Some also felt that opportunities to be 

innovative and increase income through the catering provision are being 
missed. 
  

Others felt the service is a non-essential one and acknowledged that savings 
need to be made. Some felt there is less demand on the Hive since the council 

introduced its agile working policy and it is no longer as well used. Regardless, 
respondents stated they wouldn’t want to see members of the catering service 
lose their jobs.  

 
All comments received on this proposal can also be found at 

 
Link to comments  

 
  

Tudalen 25

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service


Conclusion    

5.18 Public finances across the UK are under significant strain. Central Government, 

Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing challenges relating 

to the costs of delivering services far outweighing the level of funding available 

to the sector. On this basis, public sector bodies find themselves having to 

transform their provision, prioritise the delivery of certain services and, in some 

cases, cease services all together. 

 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Should Cabinet ultimately determine that the Hive Café and Meals Direct 
should cease at the end of November, it is assumed that Meals Direct users 

will transition to an alternative provider ahead of the service being removed. 

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Integrated Impact Assessment have been completed for Meals Direct as an 
external service and, separately for the Hive Café as an internal service.  

 

7.2 The initial Integrated Impact Assessment identified that in particular, the 
decision to cease the delivery of Meals Direct may impact on older people 

more, given that 84% of service users are over the age of 75. It was also 
identified that the proposal would have a potential negative impact on people 
with disabilities. Those who are physically disabled will be less able to access 

some of the alternative meal provision services due to their curtailed mobility. It 
is recognised that alternative external providers of meals may not necessarily 

be able to provide a like for like service. The consultation sought to identify how 
the impact could be reduced for current service users and their families.  The 
mitigating actions proposed should help with alleviating these impacts. 

 
7.3 In relation to The Hive Restaurant, there is the potential for negative impact on 

the staff working in the service, since the workforce is primarily female, lower 
paid and older age group, who also may have other caring responsibilities that 
fit in with the part time nature of the employment. 

 
7.4 All staff affected by these proposals will be supported by managers, trade 

unions and human resources staff. Additional support is available via the 
Employment Team who can provide access to 1-2-1 and group sessions to 
employees who need support to find alternative employment and access to 

training to support with upskilling and alternative career options.  We 
understand that there will be impacts to current service users the mitigating 

actions proposed should help with alleviating these impacts. 
 
The Integrated Impact Assessment for Meals Direct can be found here:  

 
Link to IIA 

 
The Integrated Impact Assessment for the Hive can be found here:  

Tudalen 26

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-meals-direct


 
Link to IIA 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 The financial case for the Hive Café and Meals Direct was presented to PDM 
in July 2024 as part of the Outline Business Case. The financial case included 

a range of options for ceasing the service and transferring the provision for 
Meals Direct to an alternative provider. The financial case is set out below:  

 

 Table 1 – Catering Services Options (attached at Appendix 3) 
 

OPTION NPV 

2024/25 to 
2029/30 

Benefits 

Cost 
Ratio 

MTC 

Savings 
Target 
2024/25 

MTC 

Saving 
2025/26 

MTC 

Saving 
2026/27 

MTC 

Saving 
2027/28 

Total 

Budget 
Savings 

(Excluding 
one-off 

costs) 

One-off 

costs 

1) consult 
July 24 – 
cease service 
end of Oct 24 

 
(£1,951,191) 

 
24.34 

 
(£29,691) 

 
(£414,403) 

 
£0 

 
£0 

 
(£444,094) 

 
£83,608 

2) consult 

July 24 – 
cease service 
end of Nov 
24 

 

(£1,912,506) 

 

23.87 

 

£0 

 

(£444,094) 

 

£0 

 

£0 

 

(£444,094) 

 

£92,601 

3) consult 

Sept 24 – 
cease service 
end of Dec 
24 

 

(£1,847,173) 

 

23.87 

 

£0 

 

(£371,221) 

 

(£72,873) 

 

£0 

 

(£444,094) 

 

£90,353 

4) consult as 

part of budget 
– cease 
service end 
of March 25 

 

(£1,748,306) 

 

22.64 

 

£0 

 

(£261,912) 

 

(£182,182) 

 

£0 

 

(£444,094) 

 

£83,608 

 

8.2 Option 2 of the Financial Case, which was the direction given at PDM, will 
deliver a full year budget saving of £0.444m from 2025/26. The Net Present 
Value (NPV) of this option, i.e. the current value of net saving across five 

years, would be £1.913m.  
 

8.3 There will be one-off costs in relation to redundancy, pension strain and lease 
termination costs in progressing a service cessation. At the time of modelling 
pension strain and lease termination costs were not available, redundancy 

costs were included and were estimated to be £0.093m. Pension strain and 
lease termination costs have now been estimated and would be an addition 

£0.196m. One-off costs will need to be firmed up should Cabinet wish to move 
forward with the proposed cessation.  

 

8.4 One-off costs can be funded through the MTFP Contingency Reserve of 
£5.266m under delegated powers approved by Council on 24 July 2024.  

 

Tudalen 27

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-the-hive


 
 

9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 The Catering services that include the provision of Meals Direct and the Hive 
Café are intrinsically linked with staff supporting both operations (as well as 
use of shared contracts and workspace). There are currently 22 staff working 

in this part of the service that may be affected.  
 

9.2 Should Cabinet determine that the Hive Café and Meals Direct service should 
cease at the end of November 2024 or make any other decision regarding the 
operation of the services, management will work with HR in accordance with 

relevant HR policies and in consultation with staff and Trade Unions as 
appropriate.   

 
9.3 In this circumstance, there would be a statutory requirement to notify the 

Insolvency Service, Redundancy Payments Service of a proposal to 

potentially dismiss 20 or more employees as redundant at one establishment. 
 

9.4 Where the continuing employment of staff is placed at risk through these 
proposals, staff who meet the qualifying criteria (i.e. two years’ service) would 
be supported to enter the Council’s redeployment pool. If the staff who enter 

the pool do not secure alternative employment before the expiration of the 
redeployment period which includes their statutory notice, a relevant 

redundancy payment would apply.   
 
9.5 Staff who qualify for a redundancy payment, who are also aged 55 or over 

and paying into the local government pension scheme would also gain 
immediate access to their pension when their employment with the Council 

ends.    
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 In addition to the detail highlighted at 5.14-5.17, consultation analysis report is 

attached at Appendix 2.  In addition, a full breakdown of comments received 
through the consultation can be found at:  

 
Link to comments  

 
 

11. STATUTORY POWER 

 

11.1 The Local Government Acts 1998 and 2003. All relevant legislation has been 
considered as part of this process and subsequent report.  

 
 

Tudalen 28

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service


Author: Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate 
  Services 

 
Consultees: Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive  

Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Gareth Jenkins, Interim Corporate Director for Social Services  
Jo Williams, Assistant Director Adult Services  

Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer  
Leanne Sykes, Deputy Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer  

Sue Richards, Head of Education and Planning Strategy, Programme 
Director for Place shaping 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services  

Liz Lucas, Head of Customer and Digital Services, Programme 
Director for Service Transformation 

Stephen Pugh, Head of Communications 
Sarena Ford, PMO Communications Lead 
Lisa Downey, PMO HR Lead 

Hayley Lancaster, PMO Engagement Lead 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Officer, Equalities and Welsh 

Language 
Lisa Lane Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer  

Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Service Manager 
Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet  

Cllr Gary Johnson, Chair of Scrutiny committee  
Cllr Amanda McConnell Vice Chair of Scrutiny committee 
Trade Unions – GMB, UNISON, UNITE   

 
Appendices:  

 
Appendix 1 Summary of Catering Services Outline Business Case 
Appendix 2 Consultation report 

Appendix 3 Financial case for Catering 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 29



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Tudalen 30



Catering Review
Business Case
Outline Business Case summary
10 July 2024

T
udalen 31



Decision Required

Agree a consultation/engagement plan and timescales for the proposal to stop the Meals Direct 
Service and to close the Hive Café at Ty Penallta. 

Agree to stop any new application for non-subsidised service users as of immediate effect.

What we achieved during the discovery stage:

• The discovery phase identified several options in 
relation to Catering Services to consider.  The steer 
was to focus on the non-statutory elements of 
catering which includes Meals Direct and the Hive 
Café with a view to cease both provisions.

What we plan to deliver as part of the define stage:

• To agree a consultation engagement plan for the 
proposal to stop the Meals Direct Service, providing 
a sufficient notice period (directed by social 
services to conduct thorough assessments) and to 
support and signpost service users to alternative 
meal delivery providers available within the Borough.

• To agree a consultation engagement plan for the 
proposal to close the Hive Café at Ty Penallta.

T
udalen 32



Strategic Case

T
udalen 33



Investment Objectives

Investment Objectives Strategic Benefits
1 Prevent further expenditure on non-statutory Catering service to operate at cost neutral 

for the council.
• £444k saving per annum

2 Social Services – Older People Teams.
Following consultation, if the decision is to stop the Meals Direct service , Social Services 
to undertake a review of all the service users that are open cases and currently have a 
care plan to ensure vulnerable service users have the appropriate package of care 
and signposted to other meal delivery services within the Borough to meet care needs.

• Ensuring the residents of Caerphilly 
that currently access the Meals Direct service 
and have a package of care, continue 
to have their needs met by an alternative 
meal delivery service and are 
not left vulnerable by the removal.

3 Caerphilly Cares.
Following consultation, if the decision is to stop the Meals Direct service , Caerphilly 
Cares will  contact and signpost all the service users that are closed cases to Social 
Services to ensure they have the necessary support to access an alternative meal 
delivery services within the Borough.

• Ensuring the residents of Caerphilly 
that currently access the Meals Direct 
service are signposted to an alternative meal 
delivery service and are not left vulnerable 
by the removal.

T
udalen 34



Existing Arrangements and Business Needs
Meals Direct
Operates with a 2-tier pricing system
£3.70 – Subsidised
£6.10 – Full Price
Currently access to the subsidy is not means tested and is based on assessment by social services

• As at the end of June 2024 there are 304 Service Users using the Meals Direct Service.
• 227 have 5 days delivery
• 77 have between 1-4 days delivery
• 138 are open cases to Social Services
• 131 are closed cases to Social Services
• 35 are not known to Social Services
• 228 are subsidised

• The service operates across the Borough.  A mapping exercise has confirmed that it is evenly distributed throughout.

• Out of the other 21 LA’s in Wales, 13 do not have a Meals Direct service and 8 have Meals Direct or something similar.

Meals Direct is a non-statutory service, to cease this service, support and information will need to be provided to signpost service 
users to alternative meal delivery providers available within the Borough.

• To undertake this successfully there will need to be a review of all service users open to social services to identify how the 
need will be met and to support and signpost all closed cases to alternative providers within the borough.

T
udalen 35



Existing Arrangements and Business Needs

To close the Hive Café at Ty Penallta.
• To undertake this successfully all staff that use the service will need to be consulted 

and signposted to alternative provision.

Both services have a combined staffing of approx. 22 members of staff.  All staff affected will 
be supported through HR Services, Line Management and TU.

The services are intrinsically linked with staff supporting both operations (as well as use of 
shared contracts and workspace). 

The Hive Café

Provides food and drink for staff at Ty Penallta and adjacent buildings at a subsidised cost.

T
udalen 36



Existing Arrangements and Business Needs

Location within the Borough 
of current service users 
of the Meals Direct Service

T
udalen 37



Scope and Service Requirements
Business Scope

Meals Direct (Non-statutory)
The Hive Restaurant (Non-statutory)

Out of Scope

Schools catering (Statutory)
Residential catering (Statutory)

Service Requirements

Core  Desirable  Optional 

Agree a consultation/engagement plan and 
timescales for the proposal to stop the 
Meals Direct Service and to close the Hive 
restaurant at Ty Penallta. 

Agree to stop any new application for non-
subsidised service users as of immediate 
effect.

Social Services to review service users that 
are currently receiving meals direct that are 
open cases to them and have a care plan 
continue to have their needs met if the 
service is stopped.

Caerphilly Cares to support and signpost the 
service users that are currently 
receiving meals direct and are close cases 
to Social Services to ensure 
they can access alternative meals delivery 
within the Borough.

To look at alternative delivery models now or 
in the future for the Hive Café and Meals 
Direct, however this must be cost neutral to 
the Authority.

T
udalen 38



Key Risks, Constraints and Dependencies
Risks Constraints  Dependencies

Timing
• Staff
• Consultation
• Commitment to Year 1 savings
Service Users
• Left vulnerable to meet care needs.
• Increased cost of alternative meal provision.
• Increasing isolation.  
• No alternative providers for specific locations.  
• Ty Penallta staff left with no provision for food and drink.
Authority
• Increasing the demand for social care services.
• Reputational damage – ceasing a service for vulnerable 
residents.  

• Customer base is growing. 
• Going live on a number of consultations at the same time is a 

reputational risk.
• Should the service continue, spiralling costs due to inflation – 

working in context of constantly rising food costs and limited ability 
to prevent this within contracts. 

• Subsidy - this assessment process is not robust and presents a 
risk as it opens the Authority to significant challenge regarding 
inequity of service should the provision continue.

Staff
• Potential job loses
• Staff morale - potential increase in staff sickness,  making it difficult 
for service delivery following consultation period.

• Mis-communication or timing of consultation of proposal.

• Agreement and planned 
Communication/Engagement plan.

• Accuracy of financial data.
• Factoring in the de-commissioning of 

equipment
• Vehicle lease agreements and cost to 

end contract.
• Staff costs in relation to redundancies
• Meals Direct and The Hive are 

interdependent.
• HR support to all staff affected.
• Any other provisions considered must be 
cost neutral – inc. contract management

• Meals Direct service is still live and 
therefore demand may 
increase/decrease with service users.

• Social Services - Review of all 
service users that are open cases
• Caerphilly cares - Support for all services 

users that are closed cases to 
social services.
• Family - support to service user
• Meal providers within the Borough – to 
meet the need.
• Support from internal services – 

Communications / Engagement / HR / 
Finance – to provide accurate information 
to inform decision to go to next stage.

T
udalen 39



Economic Case

T
udalen 40



Options appraisal

Annual combined cost to CCBC of £444,094 (based on forecasted budget for 2024/25) – which has 
considered estimates for increases in staffing, food costs and transport. 

Outline Business Case – Options considered

1. Consult July 24 – with a view to service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at the end of October 24

2. Consult July 24 - with a view to service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at the end of November 24

3. Consult Sept 24 - with a view to service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at the end of December 24

4. Consult  as part of annual Budget with a view to service 
cessation and removal of subsidy at the end of  March 25

T
udalen 41



Commercial Case

T
udalen 42



Procurement Strategy and Required Services 

• No procurement requirement idenified; however, a review of existing 
commercial arrangements has been included as part fo the Outline 
Business Case review. 

T
udalen 43



Finance Case

T
udalen 44



Summary of Financial Appraisal
Option NPV 

2024/25 to 
2029/30

Benefits: 
Cost ratio

MTC 
Savings 
Target 
2024/25

MTC 
Saving 2025

/26

MTC 
Saving 2026/

27

MTC 
Saving 2027

/28

Total 
Budget 
Savings 
(Excluding 

One off Costs)

One off 
costs

1. Consult July 24 - 
service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at 
the end of October 24

(£1,951,191) 24.34 (£29,691) (£414,403) £0 £0 (£444,094) £83,608

2. Consult July 24 - 
service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at 
the end ofNovember 
24

(£1,912,506) 23.87 £0 (£444,094) £0 £0 (£444,094) £92,601

3. Consult Sept 24 - 
service cessation and 
removal of subsidy at 
the end of December 
24

(£1,847,173) 23.87 £0 (£371,221) (£72,873) £0 (£444,094) £90,353

4. Consult as part of 
Budget - service 
cessation and removal 
of subsidy at the end 
of  March 25

(£1,748,306) 22.64 £0 (£261,912) (£182,182) £0 (£444,094) £83,608

T
udalen 45



Management Case

T
udalen 46



Governance Arrangements

Name and Role Responsibilities

Sue Richards
Project Sponsor

• Champions the change and maintains awareness at senior level
• Ensuring return on investment and Value for Money
• Owns the Business Case - sole accountability 
• Accountable for the delivery of planned benefits 
• Lead change management required to deliver successful outcomes
• Delegates responsibility to Service Manager where applicable

Tim Daley
MTC Programme Manager

• Leads and manages stakeholder engagement
• Manages expectations and providing regular updates on the progress
• Oversees the execution of the workstream plan ensuring delivery is on time, within budget, and to the 

required quality standards​

Jo Williams / Marcia Lewis
Service Manager

• Provides leadership and direction on all aspects of the service development and held accountable to SRO
• Oversee service redesign and subsequent operational delivery
• Monitors and reports on progress and be empowered to deliver on all aspects

Hayley Bowen
Project Lead

• Co-ordinates workstream – responsible for delivery and progress whlst managing and escalting 
associated impacts and risks

Denise Davies
Social Services Lead

• Lead contact for Social Services information

Paula Beaman
Finance Lead

• Responsible for tracking financial and other benefits relating to the project

Lisa Downey
HR Lead

• Lead contact for any staffing changes/reductions

Hayley Lancaster / Sarena Ford
Engagement/Communication Leads

• Lead contact for communication, engagement and consultation for the project

Hayley Clarke
Procurement Lead

• Lead contact for procurement

 

Change approvals process managed by the Portfolio Management Office

T
udalen 47



Project Roadmap

April 25Feb 24

'Kick Off'
Discovery

Feb 24

'Kick Off'
Define

May 24

PDM

July 24
Decision to

Proceed with 
consultation 

or not

Business Case
 at PDM April 

24

Steer - 
Focus on 

Meals Direct 
and The Hive - 
To stop service

Scrutiny & Cabinet
Option 1 = Sept/Oct 24
Option 2 = Dec 24
Option 3 = March 25

Consultation
 

Option 1
Running 
from 

July – Sept 
24

Gathering 
and validating 

data to 
identify 

benefits/risks

Consultation starts 
with all stakeholders

 6 weeks period

Notice period given to stop service.
Reviews and support by Social 

Services and Caerphilly Cares takes 
place to ensure 

alternative meal delivery if required

Consultation

Option 2
Running 
from 

 Sept - Nov 
24

Consultation

Option 3
Running 
from 

Jan – March 
25

Notice given to stop 
service

Option 1 = Dec 24
Option 2 = Jan 25
Option 3 = April 25

T
udalen 48



Project Controls

• Change management arrangements  - Lead by the PMO and Service transformation

• Benefits realisation arrangements  - Lead by the PMO and Finance

• Risk management arrangements - Lead by the PMO as the escalation route but defined by project lead and 

sponsor

• Post-implementation and evaluation arrangements - Lead by PMO and Finance

• Contingency arrangements and plans - Monitored by the PMO with input from project lead, sponsor and 

service area

T
udalen 49



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

T
udalen 50



 

 

Caerphilly County Borough Council  

Consultation Report on the proposal to cease the Meals 
Direct service and close its staff catering facilities at Penallta 
House 

Background ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 

Purpose .............................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Methodology (What we did) .............................................................................................................................. 2 

The Hive ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Meals Direct ................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Survey ......................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Face to face engagement ........................................................................................................................... 3 

Residents and the wider audience............................................................................................................. 4 

Results/Key Findings .......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Meals Direct ................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Respondent profile .................................................................................................................................... 4 

Graph 1: Interest in consultation (multiple answers possible).................................................................. 5 

Graph 2: Disability (n=703) ........................................................................................................................ 5 

Graph 3:  How often do you receive Meals Direct (n=331) ....................................................................... 6 

Respondent views and emerging themes...................................................................................................... 6 

Graph 4: Please indicate whether you agree or disagree with the proposal (n=689) .............................. 6 

Impact on you/your family member .......................................................................................................... 7 

Mitigation ................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Alternative provision .................................................................................................................................. 8 

Graph 5:  Have you used or do you use any other meal delivery service? ............................................... 8 

The Hive ......................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Graph 6: Interest in consultation (multi-response question) .................................................................... 9 

Graph 7:  How often do you visit the Hive to buy something? ................................................................. 9 

Graph: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close its catering facilities at Penallta House? 
(n=215) ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close the Hive, Penallta House? ................................... 10 

Reasons for support/disagreement with the proposal ........................................................................... 10 

Impact ...................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Mitigation suggestions ............................................................................................................................. 11 Tudalen 51



Next steps ........................................................................................................................................................ 11 

List of annexes.................................................................................................................................................. 11 

 

Background 

In July 2024, Caerphilly County Borough Council's Cabinet agreed to consult on a proposal to cease delivering 
its home meals service from the end of November 2024. The proposal would also see the authority close its 
staff catering facilities within its offices at Penallta House (The Hive Cafe). 

The service currently employs 22 members of staff and currently the cost to the council of delivering the 
service each year is around £444,000 (£109,000 is for the catering operation at Penallta House and around 
£334,000 is the current cost to the council annually of providing the Meals Direct Service).  

Service users who have care plans and are open to Social Services would be reviewed and would then be 
supported by social work teams to access other provision (external to the Local Authority), if required. All 
other service users will be supported to find alternative solutions/providers (external to the Local Authority), 
with support from the Caerphilly Cares Team if required. 

Meals Direct Service is a non-statutory service that provides hot and cold meals Monday to Friday between 
11.00am and 2pm direct to resident’s home or luncheon clubs within the Borough. Frozen meals are 
available for weekends. Anyone can use the unsubsidised service at a cost of £6.10/day. Alternatively, if they 
are eligible there is a subsidised service that costs are £3.70 / day. This service is not means tested.  

Currently we provide this service to 304 residents of the Borough. (As at the end of June 2024) 

The proposal is being considered in line with the Mobilising Team Caerphilly transformation programme 
which recognises that the council must deliver savings in the region of £45million over the next two financial 
years. This is on top of the £20million of permanent savings that have already been identified. 

Purpose 

The consultation was designed to gain an understanding of the impact of the proposal on key stakeholders 
including Meals Direct Service customers, their families and staff.  Where individuals identify that the 
proposal will have a negative impact on themselves or their family, the consultation will help the council 
understand the reasons for this and to identify mitigation that could be put in place to reduce that impact. 

An initial Integrated Impact Assessment identified that in particular, the decision to cease the delivery of 
Meals Direct may impact on older people more, given that 84% of service users are over the age of 75. It was 
also identified that the proposal will have a potential negative impact on people with disabilities. Those who 
are physically disabled will be less able to access some of the alternative meal provision services due to their 
curtailed mobility. It is recognised that alternative external providers of meals may not necessarily be able to 
provide a like for like service. To this end, the consultation sought to identify how the impact could be 
reduced for current service users and their families.  

The Integrated Impact Assessment for Meals Direct can be found here:  

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-meals-direct 

The Integrated Impact Assessment for the Hive can be found here:  

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-the-hive 

Methodology (What we did) 

The consultation period for Meals Direct and The Hive ran from Tuesday 30th July to Tuesday 10th 
September 2024 and was widely promoted. 

Tudalen 52

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-meals-direct
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-the-hive


The Hive 

Whilst residents were informed of the proposal to close the staff catering facilities at the Hive in Penallta 
House, the consultation was focussed internally as the decision will only impact staff and those who have 
access to staff catering facilities at Penallta House.  

A survey was made available bilingually online and paper copies were also available in the Hive. A survey 
collection box was placed in the Hive for the duration of the consultation for completed paper copies to be 
returned. 

To promote the consultation further, and allow staff we have their say, the following methods were also 
used:  

• An email was sent by the communications team to all staff informing them of the consultation and 
providing online links to the survey. 

• 4 face to face staff drop-in sessions were held in the Hive at Ty Penallta during different times of the 
day. 

• Alongside this, potentially affected staff were informed and engaged directly by their management 
team, Human Resources and supported by Trade Unions 

Meals Direct 

To enable all those who wished to give their views to take part, a survey was made available bilingually and 
in a variety of formats including paper formats.   

The consultation was promoted in a variety of ways and made available across a range of platforms.  The 
primary consultation tool was a questionnaire but participants were encouraged to respond in a number of 
ways.  Meals direct users and their families were contacted directly to inform them of the consultation and 
paper copies of the surveys were sent to each service user and next of kin with a free returns letter. A 
contact number and email address was also provided for anyone who needed support in completing the 
survey or had any general queries or concerns. 

Other methods that were used to promote the consultation included:  

• A dedicated web page linked directly from the home page of the Council’s website 
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service 

•  A media release at the launch of the consultation https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/news/news-
bulletin/july-2024/leader-warns-of-difficult-decisions-ahead 

• Regular social media posts throughout the duration of the consultation period  

• Posters displayed in libraries and other public facing Council venues. 

• Targeted e-mails to stakeholder groups across the borough   

• Internal email to staff sent by communications team.  

• As above, potentially affected staff were informed and engaged directly by their management team, 
human resources and supported by Trade Unions. 

Survey 

A survey was made available online throughout the duration of the consultation.  The survey could be 
completed online or printed for completion.  Hard copies of the survey were also available from all council 
libraries and were made available at all drop-in sessions held in the community.  

The survey focussed on identifying the potential impact of this proposal on stakeholders as outlined above.   

A copy of the survey can be found here: 
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/34540/widgets/101191/documents/65674 

Face to face engagement 

4 Face to face staff drop-in sessions were held in Penallta House over the duration of the consultation. This 
enabled staff to drop in and have their say on both the Hive and Meals Direct consultations.  Tudalen 53

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/news/news-bulletin/july-2024/leader-warns-of-difficult-decisions-ahead
https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/news/news-bulletin/july-2024/leader-warns-of-difficult-decisions-ahead
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/34540/widgets/101191/documents/65674


For Meals Direct, a different, more targeted approach was taken as many service users are disabled and 
housebound. Therefore, we spoke to service users directly over the phone and send direct letters of 
correspondence. 

Residents and the wider audience 

• Council’s website with a link directly to the consultation documentation and an online survey.  A 
paper version of the survey was also available for printing from the Website or on request in a variety 
of formats 

• details of the consultation were shared via the Council’s Twitter feed and Facebook page.  A media 
release was prepared and also shared on the Council’s Website.  

• A number of residents also raised Meals Direct at the public drop-in sessions held at 4 venues across 
the borough. 

Results/Key Findings 

Note:  The statistical data (percentages) presented within this report relates to survey responses only.  The 
number of responses received for individual questions may be lower than the total number of completed 
questionnaires returned.  Percentages are therefore based on the number of responses to individual 
questions (n=number of responses) and not necessarily the number of completed surveys received.   

Qualitative analysis incorporates both the open-ended responses to the survey as well as the qualitative 
feedback from conversations.  Participation in the consultation was self-selecting.  The data should be 
considered within this context.  

Meals Direct 

703 surveys were completed and received by the closing date.  Note: all telephone conversations with Meals 
Direct clients were entered directly into the online survey by officers taking the calls.  

Respondent profile 

As shown in Graph 1, the largest group to respond to the survey, were family members of service users and 
“other” interested people. One hundred and six (106) service users themselves responded to the 
consultation. 

The average age of service users who responded to the survey was 82 (n=106).  The average age of family 
members (n=211) /all respondents who completed the survey (n=599) was 62.  

Just over two thirds (67%) of respondents were female and 92% of respondents indicated that their 
preferred language was English whilst 3% were Welsh speakers.  

Just over half (51%) of respondents had a disability whilst amongst service users this was 89% (see Graph 2).  
Of those with a disability, 93% indicated that this impacted on their day-to-day activity (n=244).  The figure 
increases to 98.9% of those who are service users (91/92 respondents). 

 

Tudalen 54



Graph 1: Interest in consultation (multiple answers possible)  

 

 

Graph 2: Disability (n=703) 

 

 

As summarised in Graph 3, for Meals Direct customers/family members who responded on their behalf 
(n=331) around two thirds receive Meals Direct 5 days a week.  A further 12% receive meals 5 days a week 
and frozen on weekends whilst 21% receive meals between 1 and 4 days a week.  The remaining 1% received 
frozen meals only.  

12

64

257

106

7 8

265

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

A local elected
member

A member of staff As a family
member of a user

As a user of the
service

Representing
partner

organisation

Third
sector/voluntary

org

others

No
358

(51%)Yes
244
35%

62
39

No

Yes

Prefer not to say

Blanks

89.3% of users of 
Meals Direct have 
responded "yes"
(92 out of 103)

Tudalen 55



Graph 3:  How often do you receive Meals Direct (n=331) 

 
 

Respondent views and emerging themes 

Overall, 95% of respondents (n=689) disagreed with the proposal. Graph 4 highlights responses to the 
question “Please indicate whether you agree or disagree with the proposal”.  

Graph 4: Please indicate whether you agree or disagree with the proposal (n=689) 

 
 

When asked why they agreed or disagreed with the proposal, the key themes were:  

Disagree 

By far, the overarching theme was the need to protect vulnerable/older people within our community with many 
expressing the view that this service is vital, and that older people should be entitled to this provision. This is 
particularly the case for users who are disabled or have cognitive impairment (memory loss/dementia) and are unable 
to cook for themselves 

• The absence of a like for like alternative -a hot meal 

• The additional benefits that the service provides (more than a meal) to service users in relation to: 
o Social isolation 

21%

66%

12%

1%

1-4 days /week

5 days/week

5 days/week +
frozen

Frozen only

Tudalen 56



o Allows independence/people to stay at home particularly where family are unable to support 
daily through work commitments/distance  

o Safeguarding, early intervention – preventative service  
• A number felt that the Council should use resources more effectively and save money elsewhere 

• There will be an additional impact on social services / health services if this preventative service is 
removed and that Meals Direct can aid hospital discharge 

• Some felt that the food provided is of a good quality, nutritionally balanced and offers good value for 
money food currently offered with alternatives being more expensive.  

• A number indicated that they would be happy to pay more (for a service that offers peace of mind to 
family members) 

• The proposal will result in job losses 

• A small number questioned how they would access provision in the future if the service is removed 

Agree 

Those who agreed with the proposal noted that: 

• Affordable alternatives available 

• Poor quality of food offered currently 

• Cuts need to be made 

• Inconvenient timing 

Impact on you/your family member 

Key themes can be grouped into impacts on the service user, their family member and wider service 
provision.  

• Current service users may be unable to stay in own home or 

• unable to cook for themselves so would require wider care package (impact on social services), 
would eat less nutritionally balanced diet/not eat properly – impact on health  

• Social isolation as no-one visiting daily – impact on cognitive/emotional/wellbeing 

• Family would need to accommodate but some were concerned that family members who work or 
live away from the service user would not be able to provide support during the week in particular 

• Negative short-term impact but would adjust 

• Job losses 

• Family unable to support daily - work commitments/distance 

• Costly alternative provision 

• Too many cuts in Care 

• Older generations are being ignored  

• A number of comments referenced the need to consider potential future needs of an aging 

population 

Mitigation 

When asked what could be done to reduce the impact of the proposal on the service user/family, by far, the 
most widely given response was to keep the service as it is.  The following themes emerged: 

• Provide list of alternatives 

• Support those who need (through Social Services or arranging alternative provider) 

• Keep but run the service differently 

• Make changes in other areas of the Council 

• Assess (wider) support needs of current users 

• Charge more 

• Offer financial support 

• Support those who need (through Social Services) 

• Engage with service users directly regarding their needs Tudalen 57



• A shopping service 

Alternative provision 

This section of the survey asked Meals Direct users their experience of using alternative provision.  As shown 
in Graph 5, the majority of Meals Direct users have never used an alternative provider.  

Graph 5:  Have you used or do you use any other meal delivery service? 

 

 

Main reasons given for no longer using alternative provision can be themed as follows: 

• High cost 

• Didn't want frozen meals 

• No longer suitable (physical/cognitive deterioration)  

• Poor quality 

• No longer required  

• Portion size 

• High cost AND poor quality 

• Personal preference/choice 

• Additional support provided by Meals Direct staff 

• Less reliable 

• Poor choice 

Benefits of Meals Direct over alternative provision 

• A HOT meal – plated, no preparation needed  

• Regular social interaction  

• Service/staff go above and beyond 

• Safeguarding role (peace of mind, trusted, links to Social Services) 

• Affordability  

• Reliability  

• Tailored to needs - supporting diets e.g. nutritious, low salt etc 

  

83%

3% 14%

No

Yes still do

Yes used to

Tudalen 58



The Hive 

A total of 217 responses were received to the survey.  Most of the responses came from staff and the main 
place of work for 77% of respondents was Penallta House.  Graph 6 highlights the response (note more than 
one option was possible).   

Graph 6: Interest in consultation (multi-response question)  

 

Of those indicated that they visit the Hive to buy something, 73% visit at least once a week (see Graph 7).  

Graph 7:  How often do you visit the Hive to buy something? 

 

Overall, 60% of respondents were female and 10% indicated they had a disability.  

 

11

189

8 3
9

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Catering staff All other Council staff Business on the Tredomen
Business Park

Partner organisation Other

18%

33%

23%

7% 7% 7%

4%
2%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Daily A few times a
week

Once-twice a
week

fortnightly Monthly Less often Never Other

Tudalen 59



Graph: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close its catering facilities at Penallta 
House? (n=215) 

 

Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close the Hive, Penallta House? 

71% of those who responded to the question disagreed with the proposal to close the Hive.  17% agreed and 
12% were unsure.  As expected, those who visit the hive most regularly were more likely to disagree with the 
proposal to close the Hive.  

Reasons for support/disagreement with the proposal 

The main reasons given for disagreeing with the proposal were: 

• Closure will have a negative impact on staff in terms of  
o well-being 
o loss of valued colleagues and a negative financial impact if jobs are lost 
o social  

• The provision is a basic need 

• The provision is well used and of good quality 

• There are no alternative close by/within walking distance so the closure will have a negative impact 
on staff time and the environment as staff will need to travel further (by car) to buy lunch 

• Opportunities to improve and opportunities to increase income are being missed e.g. hosting visitors  

• Some felt that savings could be better made elsewhere 

Reasons for supporting/indicating that they didn’t know 

• An understanding that this is a non-essential service, and that savings need to be made.  If it is not 
sustaining itself then it should not be subsidised 

• There is less demand on the Hive as the council has moved to agile working and the provision is not 
well used 

• A small number felt that the Hive does not provide good value for money (expensive) and the quality 
of the provision is poor 

Regardless of whether they agree or disagree state they wouldn’t want to see the catering team lose their 
jobs 

Impact  

Reflecting views expressed above, the potential impacts of the proposal identified by respondents can be 
themed as follows:  

• Negative impact on staff morale/wellbeing  
o availability of a hot meal,  

17%

71%

12%

Agree Disagree Don't know

Tudalen 60



o less likely to take a break 
o less likely to work from Penallta house 

• An impact on work life balance if no food is available - time to prepare/busy family life etc/ 

• Inconvenience of needing to bring own lunch or needing to purchase food from elsewhere - extra 
time for lunch/travel pollution/litter/meeting dietary requirements 

• Nowhere for visitors to the building to eat/purchase refreshments/lunch or buffet provision 

• Economic and financial impact on staff - loss of jobs / work experience and local suppliers  

Mitigation suggestions 

By far, the most suggested mitigation was to keep the Hive open.  

Other suggestions included providing an alternative food and drink provision e.g. 

• reduce range of offer 

• vending machines  

• provide better facilities for staff to use hot water/ storage areas/ larger fridge /microwaves / toasters  

• replace with a shop 

• change/extend service offered 

• offer more food options 

• self serve/honesty box 

• collaboration with businesses 

Ensuring that the space is kept for staff to meet was also felt to be important to a number of respondents 

To encourage more use, a number of respondents suggested that staff should be encouraged to return to 
the office more often and others suggested that the space should be promoted and residents/groups invited 
to use facility.  

Next steps 

The outcomes of the consultation will be considered through the Mobilising Team Caerphilly governance 
structure. The full list of comments received can be found at https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-
direct-service 

List of annexes 

 
Annex 1: Feedback from interested parties  
Annex 2: Digest of comments received through survey  
Annex 3: Feedback from drop-in sessions  
Annex 4: Social media feedback 

 

Tudalen 61

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/meals-direct-service


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Tudalen 62



Appendix 3 – Financial Case for Catering 

 
 

OPTION 

NPV 

2024/25 to 
2029/30 

Benefits 

Cost 
Ratio 

MTC 

Savings 
Target 

2024/25 

MTC Saving 

2025/26 

MTC Saving 

2026/27 

MTC Saving 

2027/28 

Total Budget 

Savings 
(Excluding 

one-off costs) 

One-off 

costs 

1) consult July 24 
– cease service 

end of Oct 24 

 
(£1,951,191) 

 
24.34 

 
(£29,691) 

 
(£414,403) 

 
£0 

 
£0 

 
(£444,094) 

 
£83,608 

2) consult July 24 
– cease service 

end of Nov 24 

 
(£1,912,506) 

 
23.87 

 
£0 

 
(£444,094) 

 
£0 

 
£0 

 
(£444,094) 

 
£92,601 

3) consult Sept 24 

– cease service 
end of Dec 24 

 

(£1,847,173) 

 

23.87 

 

£0 

 

(£371,221) 

 

(£72,873) 

 

£0 

 

(£444,094) 

 

£90,353 

4) consult as part 
of budget – cease 

service end of 
March 25 

 
(£1,748,306) 

 
22.64 

 
£0 

 
(£261,912) 

 
(£182,182) 

 
£0 

 
(£444,094) 

 
£83,608 

 

T
udalen 63



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

T
udalen 64



 
 
 

JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 24TH SEPTEMBER 2024 
 

 

SUBJECT:  MOBILISING TEAM CAERPHILLY – FUTURE PROVISION OF 

LLANCAIACH FAWR MANOR 
 

REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR EDUCATION AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

 

 

 
 
 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to update Members on the outcome of the 
Mobilising Team Caerphilly (MTC) consultation on the future provision of 

Llancaiach Fawr Manor and to present a Business Case and set of 
recommendations for consideration.  

 
1.2 This report will be determined at Cabinet on 25 September 2024 and officers 

will provide a verbal update on the discussion that takes place at Joint 

Scrutiny during the Cabinet meeting.  
 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 

2.1 There is currently significant pressure on public finances across the UK. Central 

Government, Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing 

challenges where the costs of delivering services have accelerated far beyond 

the level of funding available to the sector.  

 

2.2 The impact of these challenges upon Caerphilly County Borough Council have 

seen the Council facing the need to make £65m of savings during the period 

2024/25 through to 2026/27 essentially just to stand still. Having identified a 

range of permanent savings as part of the 2024/25 budget setting process 

totalling circa £20m, the remaining balance of £45m must be found over the 

next two years. 

 

2.3 In July 2023, the Council launched its Transformation Portfolio known as 

Mobilising Team Caerphilly. The Portfolio consists of two component 

Tudalen 65

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



programmes: Service Transformation and Place Shaping. The Service 

Transformation Programme is primarily charged with delivering the necessary 

change across the Council to meet the £45m savings requirement.  

 

2.4 Service Transformation includes several workstreams with a key focus on, 

Customer Journey, Collaboration and Partnerships, People and Ways of 

Working and Unavoidable Change. There are currently 15 projects ‘in flight’  

which are focused on making a contribution towards the financial target and 

transforming service. 

 

2.5 Each Project is being developed using Agile Programme Management methods 

while, the Portfolio as a whole, is supported by a Portfolio Management Office 

(PMO). The PMO is responsible for developing and ensuring adherence to 

agreed governance arrangements and decision making, as well as driving and 

tracking benefits realisation. 

 

2.6 Portfolio governance arrangements are built upon the Welsh Government 
endorsed HM Treasury Green Book business case guidance and five case 
model (cases for Strategic, Economic, Commercial, Financial and 

Management). On this basis, each of the 15 projects will be underpinned by 
business cases that covers these aspects. 

 

2.7 This report focuses on the Council’s provision of Llancaiach Fawr Manor. The 

Business Case summary for Llancaiach Fawr Manor (attached at Appendix 1) 

has been developed over many months through a Project Lead working with a 

multi-disciplinary project team and with support from a Project Sponsor. 

 
2.8 The Strategic Outline Business Case for each Project considers a number of 

options for the service under review:  
 

 Do Nothing 
 Stop 
 Reduce service to minimal legally compliant baseline  

 Improve and modernise the service 
 Alternative delivery model 

 

2.9 The Strategic Outline Business Case for Llancaiach Fawr Manor was presented 
to cabinet members at a Policy Development Meeting (PDM) in April 2024. 

During this discussion, the options set out in 2.8 were explored and discussed 
before PDM gave an initial direction on the option that the Project Team should 

develop.  
 
2.10 The option selected for LLancaiach Fawr Manor was as follows:  

 
 ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY MODEL disposal of this asset via various 

arrangements to operate at a cost neutrality to the Council. 
 
 

Tudalen 66



2.11 PDM acknowledged the size and scale of the subsidy that underpinned the 
service and that the service was non-statutory in nature. The development of 

an Outline Business Case that focused on stopping the service was considered 
at that point, the most appropriate option. 

 
2.12 An Outline Business Case was subsequently developed that focused on the 

development of an Alternative Delivery Model. The findings of the Outline 

Business Case (OBC) for LLancaiach Fawr Manor were presented at a series 
of PDMs in July 2024.  

 
2.13 The OBC, again using the Treasury Five Case model, covered the Strategic, 

Management, Economic, Financial and Commercial aspects of stopping the 

service. At PDM, support was received to progress to a public consultation on 
an alternative delivery model for Llancaiach Fawr, specifically to ‘mothball’ the 

facility at the end of December 2024 and to explore options for the facility to be 
run in a different way in the future.  

 

2.14 The consultation would take place over a six week period and would seek to 
establish the views of the public and relevant stakeholders on the mothballing 

of the facility from the end of December 2024.  
 
2.15 This report provides Joint Scrutiny with a Business Case, Integrated Impact 

Assessment (IIA), the outcomes of the consultation and a set of 
recommendations that form the basis of a Cabinet decision on the continuation 

of the service. These aspects are summarised in the main body and attached 
in full within the appendices. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
3.1 Joint Scrutiny are asked to consider the Business Case, the Consultation 

Report and the Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) set out within this report 
and to ask any questions or provide any comments as appropriate. 

 
3.2 To support, via a vote, one of the three recommendations that will be put before 

Cabinet on the 25 September: 

 
 

1) Mothball Llancaiach Fawr Manor at the end of December 2024 with staff 
exiting this financial year and explore options for the facility to be run in a 
different way in the future. 

 
2) Ask officers to develop a range of further options to make the delivery of 

Llancaiach Fawr Manor sustainable over the long-term. 
 

3) Continue with the existing provision at Llancaiach Fawr Manor. 
 
 

 

Tudalen 67



4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

4.1 Caerphilly CBC needs to identify further financial savings in the order of 
£45million over the next two financial years. It will not be possible to make this 

level of financial saving without undertaking significant transformation across 
all parts of the Council.  

 
 

5. THE REPORT 
 

5.1 Public finances across the UK are under significant strain. Central Government, 

Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing challenges relating 

to the costs of delivering services far outweighing the level of funding available  

to the sector. On this basis, public sector bodies find themselves having to 

transform their provision, prioritise the delivery of certain services and, in some 

cases, cease services all together. 

 

5.2 Having identified a range of permanent savings as part of the 2024/25 budget 

setting process totalling circa £20m, the Council now needs to find the 

remaining balance of £45m over the next two years. This equates to around 

10% of the Council’s overall net revenue budget. With 78% of the Council’s 

budget spent on Education, Social Services, Waste and Infrastructure, the 

Council is facing some extremely difficult choices. 

 

5.3 The Council’s Transformation Portfolio, Mobilising Team Caerphilly, is now 

becoming embedded as part of the Council’s core business. The Service 

Transformation Programme aspect of the Portfolio is charged with delivering 

the necessary change across the Council to meet the £45m savings 

requirement. At present, there are 15 ‘in flight’ projects which are focused on 

contributing towards the financial target and transforming service. Every aspect 

of Council business will, at some point, form part of Mobilising Team Caerphilly.  

 

5.4 The Projects are being developed through Agile Programme Management 

principles and, the Portfolio as a whole, is supported by a Portfolio Management 

Office (PMO). The PMO is responsible for developing and ensuring that 

Mobilising Team Caerphilly is managed within agreed governance principles 

and that all benefits can be tracked and realised as a contribution toward the 

£45m savings requirement. 

 

5.5 Mobilising Team Caerphilly’s Portfolio governance arrangements are built upon 

the Welsh Government endorsed HM Treasury Green Book business case 
guidance and five case model. The five case model covers the Strategic, 
Economic, Commercial, Financial and Management cases associated with 

change. Each of the 15 projects referenced in 5.3 are underpinned by a 
business case that covers these respective cases. 

 

5.6 This report focuses on the Council’s provision at Llancaiach Fawr Manor. The 

Business Case summary for Llancaiach Fawr Manor (attached at Appendix 1) 

Tudalen 68



has been developed over many months through a multi-disciplinary Project 

Team, a Project Lead and with support from a Project Sponsor. The Team have 

developed the project through an initial Strategic Outline Business case on to 

an Outline Business Case towards the case set out within this report. 
  

5.7 The Strategic Outline Business Case for each Project considers a number of 
options for the service under review, typically:  

 
 Do Nothing 
 Stop 

 Reduce service to minimal legally compliant baseline  
 Improve and modernise the service 

 Alternative delivery model 
 
 Strategic Outline Business Case Stage 

 

5.8 The Strategic Outline Business Case for LLancaiach Fawr Manor was 

developed in the early part of 2024 and was presented to cabinet members at 
a Policy Development Meeting (PDM) in April 2024. During this discussion, the 
options set out in 5.7 were explored and discussed in some detail. The option 

that PDM preferred for onward development to an Outline Business Case 
(OBC) was an Alternative Delivery Model, specifically as follows:  

 
 ALTERNATIVE DELIVERY MODEL disposal of asset via various 

arrangements to operate at a cost neutrality to the Council. 

 
5.9 PDM acknowledged the size and scale of the subsidy that underpinned the 

service and that the service was non statutory in nature. Summary detail from 
the financial case is set out in Table 1, section 8 of this report. The development 
of an OBC that focused on developing an alternative delivery model was 

requested by PDM. 
 
 Outline Business Case Stage 

 
5.10 An OBC was subsequently developed by the Project Teams under the 

stewardship of the Project Sponsor. The OBC focused singularly on the 
development of an alternative delivery model for Llancaiach Fawr Manor. The 

findings of the Outline Business Case for Llancaiach Fawr Manor were then 
presented and discussed during a series of PDMs in July 2024.  

 

5.11 The OBC, again using the Treasury Five Case model, covered the Strategic, 
Management, Economic, Financial and Commercial aspects of stopping the 

service. The OBC also presented four different time frames for mothballing the 
facility, which would form the basis of the consultation: 

 

5.12 The OBC is attached at Appendix 1 with a summary extract set out against the 
five cases below: 

 
Strategic Case: Investment objective to minimise further expenditure on 

Tourism services to operate at cost neutral for the Council. This may include a 

Tudalen 69



disposal of the asset i.e. to an alternative provider, if possible, for the 
service, or full sale of asset. The strategic benefit is a per annum saving to the 

Council of £485,000 whilst aiming to maintain the cultural asset.   
 

 
 Management Case: The project forms part of the Mobilising Team Caerphilly 

portfolio of work. The Portfolio Management Office is responsible for 

governing the change approvals process. The key project controls are: 
change management, benefits realisation, risk management, post-

implementation and evaluation and contingency and planning arrangements.   
 

Economic Case: Up to five Outline Business Case options were reviewed 

and considered by PDM, all having a different impact on the Net Present 
Value (or savings that could be realised). These included: 

 
1) consult on a seamless transition  
2) consult from July 2024 with a view to mothballing the facility at the end of 

October 2024 
3) consult from July 2024 with a view to mothballing the facility at the end of 

December 2024 with staff exiting in the next financial year 
4) consult from July 2024 with a view to mothballing the facility at the end of 

December 2024 with staff exiting this financial year 

5) consult as part of the annual budget consultation with a view to 
mothballing the facility at the end of March 2025 

 
 Financial Case: Considers capital and revenue benefits and dis-benefits. A 

financial case was created for each of the five options that included 
associated one-off costs, benefits cost ratio and Net Present Value modelled 

up to 2030.  
 

Commercial Case: No procurement requirement was identified, however, a 

review of existing commercial agreements has been considered as part of the 
Outline Business Case. 

 

5.13 Following detailed discussion and consideration of the five case model set out 

within the OBC and the consultation options set out in 5.12, PDM determined 

that the favoured option would be option 4, to consult from July 2024 with a 

view to mothballing Llancaiach Fawr Manor at the end of December 2024. PDM 

also agreed that £30k should be allocated to appoint an agent to begin to 

market the facility to prospective interested parties.  

 
 Consultation Stage 

 
5.14  The consultation ran for a 6-week period from Tuesday 30th July to Tuesday 

10th September 2024.  The consultation was widely promoted to enable all 
those who wished to give their views an opportunity to take part.  

It is important to note that consultations on the following proposals were 
undertaken together:  

 

Tudalen 70



 to ‘mothball’ Llancaiach Fawr Manor at the end of December 2024 and 
explore options for the facility to be run in a different way in the future. 

 to withdraw Blackwood Miners’ Institute subsidy, which could see the 
venue mothballed at the end of December 2024. The authority would 

then explore options for the facility to be run in a different way in the 
future. 

 

The key findings within the consultation analysis appended to this report 
include the full findings of both consultations for completeness. 

 

5.15  The primary consultation tool was a questionnaire, however, participants were 
encouraged to respond in a number of ways. 

 

 The survey questionnaire was made available bilingually online (as 

outlined above) and in paper format available for printing from the 
council website, from libraries and on request via e-mail or over the 
phone 

 Four face to face drop in sessions took place at local venues with a 
further two online drop in sessions held during the consultation period  

 A dedicated web page linked directly from the home page of the 
council’s website   Link to Web Page 

 Posters displayed in venues, libraries and other public facing council 

buildings. The posters promoted the drop-in engagement sessions and 
a link to the online platform where additional supporting information 

and the survey could be found.  

 Media and social media releases at the launch of the consultation and 
throughout the consultation period, including via NewsOnline (the 

council’s e-mail newsletter) There were 9 Facebook posts on the 
council’s Facebook page during the consultation period eliciting 168 

comments.  This was shared widely by local community groups 
including Friends of Llancaiach Fawr and others.  

 

Targeted engagement with stakeholder groups: 
 

 Potentially affected staff were informed and engaged directly by their 

management team, Human Resources and supported by Trade Unions 

 

  
5.16 Feedback from consultation process 
 

  2726 completed surveys were received by the closing date (important to note 

the survey sought views on both Llancaiach Fawr and Blackwood Miners’ 

Institute). The largest proportion of respondents were residents of Caerphilly 
county borough and those who visit the venues. 

 

In addition, just under 200 people attended a drop-in session throughout the 
consultation period (views were sought on both proposals) to discuss their 

views with a member of the council’s engagement team.  

Tudalen 71

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


In breaking down the responses, more than two thirds of those who responded 
to the survey were female. A higher proportion of respondents born before 1950 

were men whilst a higher proportion of respondents born after 1970 were 
female.   

Of those who responded to the question, 92% disagreed with the proposal 
to remove the subsidy for Llancaiach Fawr Manor and mothball the venue 
from December 2024. 

The main reasons given for disagreeing with the proposal can be themed:  
 

 Its unique nature and importance as a historical/heritage venue 

 Attracting tourists/visitors 

 Contributing to education with a focus on young people 

 As a facility for local community 

 Economic benefits of visitors on the local economy 

 CCBC can make savings in other ways 

 ‘Some things are more important than money’  
 The proposal will not make a significant impact on savings targets 

 If it is "mothballed" it won't reopen – the subsidy should be retained 
until an alternative is found 

 What alternative options have been considered? 

 The site could be promoted and marketed more effectively to increase 
income 

 It could be used for something else 

 Don't want staff to lose their jobs 

 Depends on what alternative use of site might be 

 Understand savings need to be made but… 

 A disproportionate amount of money going to Caerphilly town 

 Need to keep facilities in the north of the borough 
 

A number of people felt that more information was needed to help them 

understand the proposal and comment.  They felt that more information on 
alternative models and detail on income and costs were needed before they 

could fully give their views.  
 

Main reasons given for agreeing with the proposal were: 

 Non-essential service - prioritise essential services 

 Level of subsidy is too high  

 Do not subsidise/subsidy is too much/should be self-sustaining 

 Would agree if an alternative can be found 

 

Respondents were also asked whether they agree or disagree with the level of 
subsidy for Lancaiach Fawr Manor (£485,000 per annum). 69% stated they 

agreed with the subsidy level while 13% disagreed and 18% “don’t know”. The 
main reasons given for supporting the subsidy were that the subsidy is 
relatively small and it is important to recognise the wider benefits to the 

community and local area. Those who disagreed with the level of subsidy – a 
far smaller number - felt the council should prioritise essential services and that 

it could be run by an external/charitable provider.  
 

Tudalen 72



To help understand the potential impact of the proposal to mothball Llancaiach 
Fawr from December 2024, survey respondents were asked to share how often 

they have visited the venue in the last 12 months. 54% of respondents had 
visited the venue between 1-3 times, 16% had visited 4-6 times and 19% more 

than 6 times in the last 12 months.  
By far, the most frequent reasons for visiting Llancaiach Fawr were the café 
and attending events. A tour of the Manor House was the third most popular 

reason for visiting, while attending an exhibition and the gift shop were also 
popular reasons to visit.   

 
One of the questions sought to gain an insight into how the proposal would 
impact upon residents and their families. Key themes emerging included a 

significant impact on access to history and local heritage, an impact on the local 
economy through a reduction in visitors to the area who, in turn, spend money 

locally and that alternative venues would need to be found for groups which 
currently use Llancaiach Fawr to meet and exhibit.  
 

In addition, some felt there would be a particular impact on Welsh speaking 
groups who use the venue for a range of regular activities, and that there would 

be a significant impact on education for children and young people in particular. 
A number of people who had attended weddings at the venue felt this proposal 
would be a great loss in this regard, and many felt the proposal would see the 

loss of an excellent venue for events.  
 

A further question sought to identify views for how the potential impact of the 
proposal could be mitigated.  By far the preferred suggestion was to keep the 
venue open. Others felt strongly that more time should be given to allow for 

alternatives to be put in place. Some felt that the subsidy could be reduced but 
not removed and a number of suggestions were made regarding running the 

venue more efficiently and increasing income.  
 
Effectively marketing the venue as a tourist destination was regularly 

highlighted as was seeking innovative ways of increasing income and widening 
the offer at the venue.  

 
A petition was also received on 9 September 2024 from the “Friends of 
Llancaiach Fawr” with 9198 signatures against the Llancaich Fawr Manor 

proposal (including 3168 signatures and 6030 to the online petition). 
 

Further, correspondence was received on the Llancaiach Fawr proposal from a 
number of other interested parties, including Trade Unions. The themes 
highlighted by these is in line with those identified through the consultation, and 

these, along with all comments received can be found at:  
 

Link to correspondence  
 
 

 
 

 

Tudalen 73

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


 Conclusion   

5.17 Public finances across the UK are under significant strain. Central Government, 

Local Government, Health and other sectors are all facing challenges relating 

to the costs of delivering services far outweighing the level of funding available 

to the sector. On this basis, public sector bodies find themselves having to 

transform their provision, prioritise the delivery of certain services and, in some 

cases, cease services all together. 

 
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 Should Cabinet ultimately determine that Llancaiach Fawr Manor should be 
mothballed, it is assumed that an interested party can be identified who would 

keep the facility in use and realise the intent of an alternative delivery model. 

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Integrated Impact Assessment have been completed for the Llancaiach Fawr 

proposal, which is available at:  
 

Link to IIA 
 

7.2  Some respondents perceived a greater impact on them due to their protected 
characteristics, in particular: 

 

 Disability – Llancaiach Fawr is an accessible venue  

 Welsh Language – Welsh language groups use the venue for a wide 

range of events/meetings 

 Age – older people enjoy the accessible venue 

 Impact on mental health e.g. visitors using the garden 

 Armed Forces Veterans 

 Religion 

 Gender 

 Marital status – unable to get married at the venue 

 20% felt that the proposal will treat the Welsh language less favourably 

than the English language. The remained either said “no” or left the 
question blank 

 Socio-economic impact: 

o Staff (job losses)  
o Loss of income from the local economy and  

o The need for people to travel further 
 

These potential impacts are explored fully within the Integrated Impact 
Assessment.  
 

 
  
 

Tudalen 74

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/caerphillydocs/iia/iia-llancaiach-fawr-manor


8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

8.1 The financial case for Llancaiach Fawr was presented to PDM in July 2024 as 
part of the Outline Business Case. The financial case included a range of 

options relating to the mothballing of the facility. The financial case is set out 
below:  

 

 Table 1 – Llancaiach Fawr Options (Appendix 3) 
 

 

OPTION 

NPV 

2024/25 to 
2029/30 

Benefits 

Cost 
Ratio 

MTC 

Savings 
Target 
2024/25 

MTC 

Saving 
2025/26 

MTC 

Saving 
2026/27 

MTC 

Saving 
2027/28 

Total 

Budget 
Savings 

(Excluding 
one-off 

costs) 

One-off 

costs 

1) consult on 
a seamless 
transition 

 
(£1,751,834) 

 
6.46 

 
£0 

 
(£363,750) 

 
(£121,250) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£320,817 

2) consult 
July 24 – 

mothball end 
of Oct 24 

 
(£1,237,563) 

 
2.38 

 
£0 

 
(£453,849) 

 
(£31,151) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£922,140 

3) consult 
July 24 – 
mothball end 

of Dec 24 
(staff exit next 
f inancial year) 

 
(£1,156,357) 

 
2.36 

 
£0 

 
(£343,416) 

 
(£141,584) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£906,463 

4) consult 
July 24 – 
mothball end 

of Dec 24 
(staff exit this 
f inancial year) 

 
(£1,243,273) 

 
2.44 

 
£0 

 
(£444,949) 

 
(£40,052) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£907,830 

5) consult as 
part of budget 

– mothball 
March 25 

 
(£1,083,247) 

 
2.34 

 
£0 

 
(£178,507) 

 
(£306,493) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£820,240 

 
 

8.2 Option 4 of the Financial Case, which was the direction given at PDM, will 
deliver a saving of £0.445m in 2025/26 and a further £0.040m in 2026/27. The 

endorsement included the appointment of an agent to begin marketing the 
facility. The Net Present Value (NPV) of this option, i.e. the current value of 
net saving across five years, would be £1.243m.  

 
8.3 There are likely to be on-off costs in relation to redundancy, pension strain, 

cancellation fees and operational costs. At the time of modelling these were 
estimated to be £0.378m but these will need to be firmed up should Cabinet 
wish to move forward with the proposed option.  

 
8.4 There is also a potential risk of one-off cost in relation to heritage grant claw 

back. This will be dependent on the outcome of alternative delivery, all 
relevant steps will be taken to mitigate this risk however worst-case position 
has been included in the financial modelling of £0.5m.  One-off costs of 

£0.030m have also been included for the appointment of an agent to market 
the facility and consideration given to cover associated costs to maintain the 

building if it is mothballed. 
 

Tudalen 75



8.5 One-off costs can be funded through the MTFP Contingency Reserve of 
£5.266m under delegated powers approved by Council on 24 July 2024. 

 

 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

 

9.1 There are currently 20 full time or part time members of staff employed to 
work Llancaiach Fawr Manor. In addition to this, there are 18 casual members 

of staff.    
  
9.2 Should Cabinet decide to progress with the selected option and mothball the 

facility from the end of December 2024, or make any other decision with 
regard to the operation of the services, management will work with HR in 

accordance with relevant HR policies and in consultation with staff and Trade 
Unions as appropriate.   

 

9.3 In this circumstance, there would be a statutory requirement to notify the 
Insolvency Service, Redundancy Payments Service of a proposal to 

potentially dismiss 20 or more employees as redundant at one establishment. 
 
9.4 Where the continuing employment of staff is placed at risk through these 

proposals, staff who meet the qualifying criteria (i.e. two years’ service) would 
be supported to enter the Council’s redeployment pool. If the staff who enter 

the pool do not secure alternative employment before the expiration of the 
redeployment period which includes their statutory notice, a relevant 
redundancy payment would apply.   

 
9.5 Staff who qualify for a redundancy payment, who are also aged 55 or over 

and paying into the local government pension scheme would also gain 
immediate access to their pension when their employment with the Council 
ends.    

 
9.6 Any final decision to “mothball” the venue would not override the entitlement 

of staff who are eligible to enter the Council’s redeployment pool.   
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 

 
10.1 The Consultation Report is attached at Appendix 2 with common themes and 

mitigating actions summarised in section 5.14-5.16. 

 
 Link to consultation report 

 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER 

 

11.1 The Local Government Act 2000. All relevant legislation has been considered 
as part of this process and subsequent report. 

 
 

Tudalen 76

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


Author: Richard Edmunds, Corporate Director for Education and Corporate 
  Services 

 
Consultees: Dave Street, Deputy Chief Executive  

Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment 
Gareth Jenkins, Interim Corporate Director for Social Services  
Jo Williams, Assistant Director Adult Services  

Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer  
Leanne Sykes, Deputy Head of Financial Services and S151 Officer  

Sue Richards, Head of Education and Planning Strategy, Programme 
Director for Place shaping 
Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services  

Liz Lucas, Head of Customer and Digital Services, Programme 
Director for Service Transformation 

Stephen Pugh, Head of Communications 
Sarena Ford, PMO Communications Lead 
Lisa Downey, PMO HR Lead 

Hayley Lancaster, PMO Engagement Lead 
Anwen Cullinane, Senior Policy Office, Equalities and Welsh 

Language 
Lisa Lane Head of Democratic Services and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer 

Allan Dallimore, Regeneration Service Manager 
Leader, Deputy Leader and Cabinet  

Cllr Gary Johnson, Chair of Scrutiny committee  
Cllr Amanda McConnell Vice Chair of Scrutiny committee 
Trade Unions – GMB, UNISON, UNITE  

 
Appendices:  

 
Appendix 1 Summary of Llancaiach Fawr Manor Outline Business Case   
Appendix 2 Consultation report 

Appendix 3 Financial case for Llancaich Fawr Manor 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 77



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Tudalen 78



Llancaiach Fawr
Outline Business Case summary ​
10 July 2024

T
udalen 79



Decision Required

Agree a consultation/engagement plan and timescales for the proposal to stop services provided by 
Llancaiach Fawr Manor and mothball the venue.
​
Agree to stop any new service requests as of immediate effect. ​

What we achieved during the discovery stage:​
​
• The discovery phase identified several options 
in relation to Llancaiach Fawr to consider.  

• The steer was to focus on operating at a cost 
neutral for the council which could mean removal 
of the subsidy and looking to operate as an 
alternative delivery model.

What we plan to deliver as part of the define 
stage:​
​
• Further test the option to operate at a cost 
neutral and to agree a consultation engagement 
plan on the future of Llancaiach Fawr that 
considers a notice period to service users. 

T
udalen 80



Strategic Case

T
udalen 81



Investment Objectives

Investment Objectives Strategic Benefits
1 Prevent further expenditure on the subsidy of Llancaiach Fawr 

Manor, to operate at cost neutral for the council.

This could include disposal of the asset
i.e. to an alternative provider, if possible, for the service, or full 
sale of asset.

£485k saving per annum​
Up to an estimated £1.7m Net 
Present Value modelled over 5 
years.

Cultural asset maintained

2 Recruitment of agent.
Following consultation, if the decision is to stop the subsidy for 
Llancaiach Fawr Manor, a consultant will be onboarded to support 
finding new opportunities to run the venue at an estimated cost 
circa £30k.

Maximum reach to potential market 
will be achieved to attract 
investment opportunities.

T
udalen 82



Existing Arrangements and Business Needs

Llancaiach Fawr Manor

One of three tourism destinations in a portfolio managed by the Visitor Economy & Destinations 
Manager

Llancaiach Fawr Manor and visitor centre is a place for all occasions. The historical Manor 
House has been restored and furnished as it would have been in 1645. 

It caters for tours, events, weddings and restaurant services.

In 2024-25, the total budget subsidy is £485K. 

There are currently 20 members of staff which are either full time or part time posts and 18 are 
casual. 

T
udalen 83



Scope and Service Requirements
Business Scope

Llancaiach Fawr Manor and visitor centre is a place for all occasions. 
The historical Manor House has been restored and furnished as it would 
have been in 1645. 

It caters for tours, events, weddings and restaurant services.

It is a non-statutory service.

Out of Scope

All is in scope

Service Requirements

Core Desirable Optional 

Agree a consultation/engagement plan and 
timescales for the proposal to stop services 
provided by Llancaiach Fawr Manor and 
mothball the venue.
​
Agree to stop any new service requests as of 
immediate effect.​

To operate at a cost neutrality and to 
contribute to the councils needs of savings 
£65m in 3 years. 

Onboard marketing agent / business 
development consultant to maximise exposure 
to alternate providers.

N/A

T
udalen 84



Key Risks, Constraints and Dependencies
Risks Constraints  Dependencies

Timing​​
• Commitment to meet Year 1 savings​
• Consultation
Service Users​
• Existing ticket sales and bookings reimbursed
Authority ​
• Clawback – grants / funding received
• Reputational damage – ceasing a service known to 
Caerphilly
• Customer base is growing – i.e. bookings continuing to 
be made
Staff ​
• Potential job loses​
• Staff morale - potential increase in staff sickness,  
making it difficult for service delivery following 
consultation period​
• Mis-communication or timing 
of consultation of proposal
Constraints / Dependencies​
• Staff options  
• Legal obligations 
• Overall timescales 
• TU discussions​
• Support from internal services – Communications / 
Engagement / HR / Finance – to 
provide accurate information to inform decisions to go to 
next stage
• HR policies and support to all affected staff
• Any other support provisions considered must be cost 
neutral

• Agreement and planned Communication/Engagement 
plan.​

• Accuracy of financial data.​
• Factoring in security of building
• Factoring in the de-commissioning of equipment​
• Staff costs in relation to redundancies​
• Dependencies across services, catering, tours, events.
• HR support to all staff affected.​
• Any other provisions considered must be cost neutral – 

inc. contract management​
• Llancaiach Fawr Manor is still open so could be 

impacted by changes in visitor numbers.

• Staff options  ​
• Legal obligations ​
• Overall timescales ​
• TU discussions ​
• Support from internal services – Communications / 

Engagement / HR / Finance – to 
provide accurate information to inform decisions to go to 
next stage​

• HR policies and support to all affected staff​
• Any other support provisions considered must be cost 

neutral​

T
udalen 85



Economic Case

T
udalen 86



Options appraisal

Annual combined cost to CCBC of £485k (based on forecasted budget for 2024/25) – which has 
considered estimates for inflation.  ​

T
udalen 87



Options appraisal
Option 1 - Seamless transition

- Seeking to achieve disposal of asset to 
alternative delivery provider (private sector)

- Requires appointment of agents to expose 
venue to correct target audience (circa £30k 
and no funding currently approved)

- Process estimated to take us into early part of 
next financial year - Staff to be consulted in July 
but opportunities for TUPE if new provider 
delivers comparable service

- Risk of grant clawback minimised. Risk of 
cancellations minimised.

Option 2 - Notice of closure July  - actual 
closure end of October
- Need to mothball from 30 October
- Still looking to market site to alternative 
delivery provider – so appointment of agents 
still required 
- Staff could be served notice at end of July
- Risk is that a closed venue is less attractive for 
marketing. Risk of grant clawback very real. 
Cancellation payments for weddings may be 
required

Option 3 - Notice of closure July - actual 
closure end of December (staff exit next 
financial year)
- Need to mothball from 31st December
- Still looking to market site to alternative 
delivery provider – so appointment of agents 
still required
- Staff could be served notice Oct
- Risk of grant clawback. Cancellation 
payments for weddings etc required but 
reduced (summer weddings next year)

Option 5 - Linked to Budget consultation, 
Closure end of March
- Consultation in line with Budget Report in 
January
- Still looking to market site to alternative delivery 
provider – so appointment of agents still required 
but delayed until February
- Staff to be consulted as part of budget 
consultation. Staff could be put on notice of 
redundancy in January 25
- Risk of grant clawback. Cancellation payments 
for weddings etc required but reduced (summer 
weddings next year)

Option 4 - Notice of closure July - actual 
closure end of December (staff exit this 
financial year)
- Need to mothball from 31st December
- Still looking to market site to alternative 
delivery provider – so appointment of agents 
still required
- Staff could be served notice Oct
- Risk of grant clawback. Cancellation 
payments for weddings etc required but 
reduced (summer weddings next year)

T
udalen 88



Commercial Case

T
udalen 89



Procurement Strategy and Required Services 

No procurement requirement identified; however, a review of existing 
commercial arrangements has been included as part of the Outline Business Case 
review. 

T
udalen 90



Finance Case

T
udalen 91



Financial case – Llancaiach Fawr Manor Reflecting grant update

T
udalen 92



Management Case

T
udalen 93



Governance Arrangements
Name and Role ​ Responsibilities​

Allan Dallimore
Project Sponsor​
​

•Champions the change and maintains awareness at senior level​
•Ensuring return on investment and Value for Money​
•Owns the Business Case - sole accountability ​
•Accountable for the delivery of planned benefits ​
•Lead change management required to deliver successful outcomes​
•Delegates responsibility to Service Manager where applicable​

Tim Daley​
MTC Programme Manager​

•Leads and manages stakeholder engagement​
•Manages expectations and providing regular updates on the progress​
•Oversees the execution of the workstream plan ensuring delivery is on time, within budget, and to the 
required quality standards​​

Temp Replacement
Service Manager​ (previously Eloise Tong)
​

•Provides leadership and direction on all aspects of the service development and held accountable to SRO​
•Oversee service redesign and subsequent operational delivery​
•Monitors and reports on progress and be empowered to deliver on all aspects​
​

Antony Bolter / Paul Hudson
Project Lead​

•Co-ordinates workstream - responsible for delivery and progress whlst managing and escalting 
associated impacts and risks

Paula Beaman​
Finance Lead​

•Responsible for tracking financial and other benefits relating to the project​

Lisa Downey​
HR Lead​

•Lead contact for any staffing changes/reductions​

Hayley Lancaster / Sarena Ford​
Engagement/Communication Leads​

•Lead contact for communication, engagement and consultation for the project​

Hayley Clarke​
Procurement Lead​

•Lead contact for procurement​

 

Change approvals process managed by the Portfolio Management Office

T
udalen 94



Project Roadmap

April 25Feb 24

'Kick Off'
Discovery

Feb 24

'Kick Off'
Define

June 24

PDM

10th July 24
Decision to

Proceed with 
consultation 

or not

Business Case 
at PDM

April 2024
Steer - Focus on 
Llancaiach Fawr, 
BMI and Meals 
Direct To stop 

service

Scrutiny & Cabinet
Option 1-4 = Sept/Oct 24
Option 5 = March 25

Consultation 
All options 

Running from 
July – Sept 24

With the exception of consulting as part of the Budget

Gathering 
and validating 

data to 
identify 

benefits/risks

Consultation starts 
with all stakeholders
 6 weeks period

Notice given to stop 
service

T
udalen 95



Project Controls

Include a summary of the key project controls. These typically include:

• Change management arrangements  - Lead by the PMO and Service transformation

• Benefits realisation arrangements  - Lead by the PMO and Finance

• Risk management arrangements - Lead by the PMO as the escalation route but defined by project lead and 

sponsor

• Post-implementation and evaluation arrangements - Lead by PMO and Finance

• Contingency arrangements and plans - Monitored by the PMO with input from project lead, sponsor and 

service area

T
udalen 96



 

Caerphilly County Borough Council  

Consultation Report on the proposal to withdraw the subsidy 
and mothball Blackwood Miners’ Institute and to Mothball 
Llancaiach Fawr Manor from end of December 2024 

 

Background ........................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Llancaiach Fawr Manor .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Blackwood Miners Institute ........................................................................................................................... 3 

Purpose .............................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Methodology (What we did) .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Questionnaire ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Face to face engagement ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Drop in sessions ......................................................................................................................................... 4 

Results/Key Findings .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Respondent profile ........................................................................................................................................ 5 

Graph 1:  Interest in the consultation (multiple answers possible) .......................................................... 5 

Map 1: Geographical distribution of respondents .................................................................................... 6 

Graph 2:  Age and gender profile of respondents (n male = 750; n female = 1633) ................................. 7 

Llancaiach Fawr .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

Graph 3   Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to remove the subsidy for Llancaiach Fawr from 
December 2024? (n=1848) ........................................................................................................................ 7 

Level of subsidy .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

Graph 4: Level of subsidy.  Percentage of respondents who agreed/disagreed with the level of subsidy 
(n=1837) ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Graph 5: How many times have you visited Llancaiach Fawr in the last 12 months (n=1834)? ............... 9 

Graph 6: Reasons for visit to Llancaiach Fawr (multiple responses were possible) .................................. 9 

Impact of the proposal on you and your family ...................................................................................... 10 

Mitigation ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Blackwood Miner’s Institute ........................................................................................................................ 11 

Respondent views and emerging themes................................................................................................ 11 

Graph 7: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to withdraw the subsidy from Blackwood Miner’s 
Institute at the end of December 2024 (n=2171) .................................................................................... 11 

Graph 8: Do you agree or disagree with the annual subsidy of £347 provided to Blackwood Miner’s 
Institute? (n=2140) .................................................................................................................................. 12 

Tudalen 97



Graph 9:  Visits in the last 12 months (n=2151) ...................................................................................... 13 

Graph 10:  Reasons for visiting Blackwood Miner’s Institute (more than one response possible) ........ 13 

Impact on you and your family ................................................................................................................ 13 

Mitigation ................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Next steps ........................................................................................................................................................ 15 

List of annexes.................................................................................................................................................. 15 

  

Tudalen 98



Background 

Caerphilly County Borough Council, like many other local authorities across Wales, is facing a huge financial 
challenge over the next few years and difficult decisions will need to be made to balance the budget. 

The council must deliver savings in the region of £45million over the next two financial years and this is on 
top of the £20million of permanent savings that have already been identified. 

The council is unable to continue to run services in the same way and need to explore all options and 
consider ways of doing things differently. 

Llancaiach Fawr Manor 

The council currently provides a subsidy of £485,000 a year to run the venue.   

The venue currently employs 20 members of staff (including one vacant post) equal to 13.5 FTEs, plus 14 
casual officers. Should any proposal be agreed following consideration of the public consultation feedback, 
colleagues employed at the venue would be supported through existing council HR policies. 

The council is proposing to ‘mothball’ Llancaiach Fawr at the end of December 2024 and will explore options 
for the facility to be run in a different way in the future.  If agreed, this proposal would allow the council to 
make full in-year savings for 2025/26 while continuing to try and establish alternative providers for the 
facility. 

Blackwood Miners Institute 

The council currently provides a subsidy of £347,000 per year to run Blackwood Miners Institute. 

The venue currently employs 9 members of staff, plus 16 casual officers. Should any proposal be agreed 
following consideration of the public consultation feedback, colleagues employed at the venue would be 
supported through existing council HR policies. 

The council is proposing to withdraw its subsidy, which could see the venue mothballed at the end of 
December 2024. The authority would then explore options for the facility to be run in a different way in the 
future.  If supported, this proposal would allow the council to make full in-year savings for 2025/26. 

Purpose 

This consultation has been conducted to seek the views of residents and stakeholders in relation to two 
proposals:  

• to ‘mothball’ Llancaiach Fawr at the end of December 2024 and explore options for the facility to be 
run in a different way in the future. 

• to withdraw its subsidy, which could see the venue mothballed at the end of December 2024. The 
authority would then explore options for the facility to be run in a different way in the future. 

An initial Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) was drafted for both venue proposals and can be found at 
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr  

The IIA will be updated following completion of the consultation.  

Methodology (What we did) 

The consultation ran for a 6 week period from Tuesday 30th July to Tuesday 10th September 2024.  The 
consultation was widely promoted to enable all those who wished to give their views an opportunity to take 
part: 

• A dedicated web page linked directly from the home page of the Council’s website 
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr 

• Posters displayed in Blackwood Miners Institute, Llancaich Fawr, libraries and other public facing 
Council venues.  The posters promoted the drop-in engagement sessions and a link to the online 

Tudalen 99

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


platform where additional supporting information and the survey could be found (in both online and 
printable format).  

• Media and social media releases at the launch of the consultation and throughout the consultation 
period, including via NewsOnline (the council’s e-mail newsletter) There were 9 Facebook posts on 
the council’s Facebook page during the consultation period eliciting 168 comments.  This was shared 
widely by Blackwood Miner’s Institute and local community groups including Friends of Llancaiach 
Fawr and others  

• Targeted e-mails to stakeholder groups across the borough (please see Annex on the website for 
more details) https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr  

The primary consultation tool was a questionnaire however, participants were encouraged to respond in a 
number of ways.   

Questionnaire  

The survey questionnaire was made available bilingually online (as outlined above) and in paper format 
available for printing from the council website, from libraries and on request via e-mail or over the phone. 

A copy of the survey can be found here:  https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-
and-llancaiach-fawr  

Face to face engagement 

Four face to face drop in sessions took place at venues close to both Blackwood Miners Institute and 
Llancaiach Fawr: 

Drop in sessions 

Venue    Date and time Number of attendees   

Blackwood Library    Tuesday 13th August 2024 (4-6pm)   70+  

Nelson Library    Wednesday 21st August 2024 (4-6pm)  54  

Gelligaer Community Centre Thursday 5th September 2024 (5:30 - 7:30pm)  18 

Blackwood Library    Saturday 7th September (11:30am - 1:30pm)  25 

Two online drop-in sessions were also arranged: 

Date  Number of attendees 

Thursday 15th August 2024 (4:30 - 6:30pm)  6  

Tuesday 20th August 2024 (2:30 - 2:30pm)  5 

 

Two petitions have been received:  

• Petition no 271 received 9 September 2024 from the “Friends of Llancaiach Fawr” with 9198 to save 
Llancaich Fawr Manor (including 3168 signatures and 6030 to the online petition)  

• Petition no 272 received 10 September 2024 to save Blackwood Miner’s Institute from Cllr Kevin 
Etheridge and George Etheridge with over 6000 responses including online.  

Responses received via letter/e-mail are contained within the Annexes of this report.   

The key themes expressed via other engagement mechanisms reflect closely those of the survey and are 
incorporated into the summary of Key Findings.  

Tudalen 100

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


Results/Key Findings 

Note:  The statistical data (percentages) presented within this report relates to survey responses only.  The 
number of responses received for individual questions may be lower than the total number of completed 
questionnaires returned.  Percentages are therefore based on the number of responses to individual 
questions (n=number of responses) and not necessarily the number of completed surveys received.   

Qualitative analysis incorporates both the open-ended responses to the survey as well as the qualitative 
feedback from conversations, e-mails, letters and other written comments.  Participation in the consultation 
was self-selecting.  The data should be considered within this context.  

A small number of surveys (6) received after the closing date have not been included in the analysis below 
but all disagreed with both proposals. 

Respondent profile 

2726 completed surveys were received by the closing date.  As shown in Graph 1, the largest proportion of 
respondents were residents of Caerphilly county borough and those who visit the venues.  Note: 
respondents were able to select more than one response to this question.   

Graph 1:  Interest in the consultation (multiple answers possible) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 101



Map 1 highlights that while the largest proportion of respondents were residents of the borough and south 
Wales more widely, the consultation reached and was responded to by visitors and interested stakeholders 
from further afield.  

 

Map 1: Geographical distribution of respondents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 102



Graph 2 provides a breakdown of the age and gender profile of survey respondents.  More than two thirds 
of those who responded to the survey were female. A higher proportion of respondents born before 1950 
were men whilst a higher proportion of respondents born after 1970 were female.  

Graph 2:  Age and gender profile of respondents (n male = 750; n female = 1633) 

 

Llancaiach Fawr 

Of those who responded to the question, 92% disagreed with the proposal to remove the subsidy for 
Llancaich Fawr and mothball the venue from December 2024 (see Graph 3).  

Graph 3   Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to remove the subsidy for Llancaiach 
Fawr from December 2024? (n=1848) 

 

 

The main reasons given for disagreeing with the proposal can be themed:  

• Its unique nature and importance as a historical/heritage venue 
o Attracting tourists/visitors 
o Contributing to education with a focus on young people 

• As a facility for local community 

• Economic benefits of visitors on the local economy 

• CCBC can make savings in other ways 
o Some things are more important than money 

5%

92%

3%

Agree Disagree Don't know

Tudalen 103



o The proposal will not make a significant impact on savings targets 

• If it is "mothballed" it won't reopen – the subsidy should be retained until an alternative is found 

• What alternative options have been considered? 
o The site could be promoted and marketed more effectively to increase income 
o It could be used for something else 

• Don't want staff to lose their jobs 

• Depends on what alternative use of site might be 

• Understand savings need to be made but…. 
o A disproportionate amount of money going to Caerphilly town 
o Need to keep facilities in the north of the borough 

A number of people felt that more information was needed to help them understand the proposal and 
comment.  They felt that more information on alternative models and detail on income and costs were 
needed before they could fully give their views.  

Main reasons given for agreeing with the proposal 

• Non-essential service - prioritise essential services 

• Level of subsidy is too high  
o Do not subsidise/subsidy is too much/should be self-sustaining 

• Would agree if an alternative can be found 

Level of subsidy 

Respondent were asked whether they agree or disagree with the level of subsidy for Lancaiach Fawr 
(£485,000 per annum). As highlighted in Graph 4, 69% agreed with the subsidy level while 13% disagreed 
and 18% “don’t know”.  

Graph 4: Level of subsidy.  Percentage of respondents who agreed/disagreed with the level 
of subsidy (n=1837) 

 

The main reasons given for supporting the subsidy were: 

• That the subsidy is (relatively) small 

• It is important to recognise wider benefits to the community and local area as outlined in response to 
the question above.  

The main reasons given for disagreeing with this level of subsidy were: 

• The council should prioritise essential services 

• The venue should be run more efficiently – there is an income – this should be sufficient if run 
effectively 

69%

13%

18%

Agree Disagree Don’t know

Tudalen 104



• The subsidy is too high if usage is low 

• Money could be saved by making more use of volunteers 

• The venue could be run by the private sector/a charity or trust or with partners (voluntary and other 
organisations)  

For those who indicated that they “don’t know”, a key factor was the lack of detail in relation to 
income/expenditure relating to the venue and a breakdown of costs that would allow them to understand 
more about why the subsidy is needed etc 

To help understand the potential impact of the proposal to mothball Llancaiach Fawr from December 2024, 
survey respondents were asked to share how often they have visited the venue in the last 12 months.  The 
majority (89%) of those who responded to the survey had visited Llancaiach Fawr in the last 12 months (see 
Graph 5).   

Graph 5: How many times have you visited Llancaiach Fawr in the last 12 months (n=1834)? 

 

By far, the most frequent reasons for visiting Llancaich Fawr were the café and attending events (see Graph 
6).  A tour of the Manor House was the third most popular reason for visiting.  Visiting an exhibition and the 
gift shop were also popular reasons to visit.  

Graph 6: Reasons for visit to Llancaiach Fawr (multiple responses were possible) 

 

11%

54%

16%
19%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

0 1-3 4-6 More than 6 times

931

486

827

1092

78 123

614

29

229
176

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Tudalen 105



Impact of the proposal on you and your family 

Key themes emerging with respect to the negative impact of this proposal include: 

• Impact on access to history and local heritage  

• Impact on local economy through a reduction in visitors to the area who, in turn, spend money 
locally 

• Some who visit infrequently indicated that the impact would be relatively small but those who live 
more locally and visit regularly felt the impact would be great 

o Several groups noted that they would need to find alternative venues for meetings and 
exhibitions.  

o There would be a particular impact on Welsh speaking groups who use the venue for a range 
of regular activities, and Arts groups who also use the venue for exhibitions.   

o A number of people who had attended weddings at the venue felt that this proposal would be 
a great loss 

• Impact on education (for children and young people in particular) 

• Loss of a suitable venue for events 

Some respondents perceived a greater impact on them due to their protected characteristics, in particular: 

• Disability – Llancaich Fawr is an accessible venue  

• Welsh Language – Welsh language groups use the venue for a wide range of events/meetings 

• Age – older people enjoy the accessible venue 

• Impact on mental health e.g. visitors using the garden 

• Armed Forces Veterans 

• Religion 

• Gender 

• Marital status – unable to get married at the venue 

20% felt that the proposal will treat the Welsh language less favourably than the English language. The 
remained either said “no” or left the question blank.  

As noted above, there is a potential socio-economic impact  

• Staff (job losses)  

• Loss of income from the local economy and  

• The need for people to travel further 

Mitigation 

Reflecting previous comments, the following themes were identified in relation to how the proposal could 
be mitigated.  By far the preferred suggestion was to keep the venue open. Others felt strongly that more 
time should be given to allow for alternatives to be put in place. Others felt that the subsidy could be 
reduced but not removed and a number of suggestions were made regarding running the venue more 
efficiently and increasing income: 

• Make more use of volunteers/work with voluntary sector 

• Increase income 
o small increase in charge 
o widen the offer 
o improve marketing and promotion 

• Reduce/limit opening hours 

• Private investment 

• Identify additional income sources (external) 

• Find savings elsewhere in the council 

• Learn from other venues 

• Focus on one flagship venue Tudalen 106



Blackwood Miner’s Institute 

Respondent views and emerging themes 

Of those who responded (n=2171), 94% disagreed whist 4% agreed with the proposal to remove the subsidy 
for Blackwood Miners Institute in December 2024 (See Graph 7).  

Graph 7: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to withdraw the subsidy from 
Blackwood Miner’s Institute at the end of December 2024 (n=2171) 

 

The main reasons given for disagreeing with the proposal are themed:  

• Arts and culture is so important 
o It is the only professional arts venue in the borough 
o It is unique 

• As a facility for local community.  
o It was funded by the miners and is part of the heritage of the area/belongs to the community  
o Some things are more important than money 
o  

• Impact on local economy through a reduction in visitors to the area who, in turn, spend money 
locally 

o Attracts tourists/visitors 
o Greater Blackwood Master Plan 
o Night time economy 

• If it is "mothballed" it won't reopen – the subsidy should be retained to support the venue until an 
alternative is found/venue becomes self-sustaining 

o Better marketing and promotion 
o Increase income 

• Don't want staff to lose their jobs 

• Understand savings need to be made but…. 
o The council can save money in other ways 
o Proposal will not make a significant impact on savings targets 
o A disproportionate amount of money going to Caerphilly town 
o Need to keep facilities in the north of the borough 

As with Llancaiach Fawr. a number of people felt that more information was needed to help them 
understand the proposal and comment.  They felt that more information on alternative models and detail on 
income and costs were needed before they could fully give their views.  

4%

94%

2%

Agree

Disagree

Don't know

Tudalen 107



A small number said that they would agree with the proposal if an alternative can be found.  

Others felt that as a non-essential service, the venue needs to be self-sustaining and the council should focus 
on other areas. 

Do you agree or disagree with the annual subsidy of £347,000 provided to Blackwood Miner’s Institute? 

75% agree that with the subsidy , 14% indicated that they “don’t know” and a further 11% disagreed.  

A number respondents felt that they were unable to give a view in relation to the level of subsidy as they 
had not been provided with enough detail in relation to income and costs of running the venue.  

Graph 8: Do you agree or disagree with the annual subsidy of £347,000 provided to 
Blackwood Miner’s Institute? (n=2140) 

 

The main reasons for agreeing that the subsidy should remain were: 

• The subsidy is (relatively) small 

• Recognise wider benefits to the community as highlighted in previous comments  

The main reasons for disagreeing that the subsidy should remain were  

• The Council should prioritise essential services 

• The venue should be run more efficiently 

• Could be run by the private sector 

• The council should work with partners 

• The subsidy too high if usage is low 

• More use of volunteers would reduce costs 

For context in understanding the potential impact of the proposal to mothball Blackwood Miners Institute 
from December 2024, survey respondents were asked to share how often they have visited the venue in the 
last 12 months.  The majority (91%) of those who responded to the survey had visited Blackwood Miner’s 
Institute in the last 12 months (see Graph 9).   

 

Support for local community groups (n=2079) 

64% of respondents to this question agree that the council should support community groups who’d be 
interested in taking over the venue. 11% disagree and 26% don’t know. 

75%

11%

14%

Agree Disagree Don’t know

Tudalen 108



Graph 9:  Visits in the last 12 months (n=2151) 

 

 

As shown in Graph 10 the main reasons for visiting Blackwood Miner’s Institute amongst respondents was 
(by far) attending a performance.  As expected, the frequency of visits is higher for those attending regular 
classes compared to watching a performance.  

Graph 10:  Reasons for visiting Blackwood Miner’s Institute (more than one response 
possible) 

 

 

Impact on you and your family 

Key themes emerging with respect to the negative impact of this proposal include: 

• Impact on access to arts and culture as the venue is the only one of its kind in the local area “unique” 
(other venues do not offer like for like) 

• Impact on local economy through a reduction in visitors to the area who, in turn, spend money 
locally 

o Impact on the night time economy 
o Links to the Greater Blackwood Master Plan 

• Locally, the venue is used by a number of groups who noted that they would need to find alternative 
venues for classes and workshops.  

9%

46%

22% 23%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

0 1-3 4-6 More than 6 times

1084

108 94 124 89 69 106

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

To watch a
performance

Attend a dance
class

Attend a
fitness class

Attend a
workshop

Attend
drama/theatre

class

Receive
support&
guidance

Others

Tudalen 109



• There is a greater cost associated with visiting larger venues further afield 
o Lack of public transport and the cost of public transport would make alternatives out of reach 

• Impact on Welsh language – 18% felt that the proposal would treat the Welsh language less 
favourably. The remainder either left the question unanswered or said “no”.  

o There would be a particular impact on Welsh speaking groups who use the venue for a range 
of regular activities, and Arts groups who also use the venue for exhibitions.   

o A number of people who had attended weddings at the venue felt that this proposal would be 
a great loss 

• Loss of a suitable venue for events 

Some respondents perceived a greater impact on them due to their protected characteristics, in particular: 

• Disability  

• Welsh Language – loss of Welsh language performances 

• Age – dance classes and other classes for both young and older people 

• Impact on mental health if unable to visit, social interaction by attending classes also linked to 
adverse childhood experiences 

• Gender – the dance class is attended mostly by girls  

• Race – ability to see diverse performances that reflect cultural heritage 

• Sexual orientation – Diverse performances including LGBT friendly performances 

As noted above, there is a potential socio-economic impact  

• Staff (job losses)  

• Loss of income from the local economy and  

• The need for people to travel further 

Mitigation 

Reflecting previous comments, the following themes were identified in relation to how the proposal could 
be mitigated.  By far the preferred suggestion was to keep the venue open. Others felt strongly that more 
time should be given to allow for alternatives to be put in place. Others felt that the subsidy could be 
reduced but not removed and a number of suggestions were made regarding running the venue more 
efficiently and increasing income: 

• Make more use of volunteers/work with voluntary sector 

• Increase income 
o small increase in charge 
o widen the offer 
o improve marketing and promotion 

• Reduce/limit opening hours/days 

• Identify additional income sources (external funding as a charity) 

• Find savings elsewhere in the council 

• Learn from other venues 

‘it’s important to support the arts.’ 

‘gives opportunities for young and old people to showcase their talents and for the local community to come 
together to support them.’ 

‘It's a fantastic venue, offering such a variety of performances . These shows being in so much money to the 
local economy.’  

‘This building has historical importance which should be preserved’. 

‘A phased reduction in subsidy and working with the theatre to find alternative funding so the community 
isn't cut off straight away’, ‘ 

A full digest of the responses received can be found in Annex 2. Tudalen 110



Next steps 

The outcomes of the consultation will be considered through the Mobilising Team Caerphilly governance 
structure.  

The full list of comments received can be found at https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-
institute-and-llancaiach-fawr 

List of annexes 

Annex 1: Feedback from interested parties 
Annex 2: Digest of comments received through survey 
Annex 3: Feedback from drop-in sessions 
Annex 4: Social media feedback  
 

 

Tudalen 111

https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr
https://conversation.caerphilly.gov.uk/blackwood-miners-institute-and-llancaiach-fawr


Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Tudalen 112



Appendix 3 – Financial Case for Llancaiach Fawr Manor 

 
 

OPTION 

NPV 

2024/25 to 
2029/30 

Benefits 

Cost 
Ratio 

MTC 

Savings 
Target 

2024/25 

MTC Saving 

2025/26 

MTC Saving 

2026/27 

MTC Saving 

2027/28 

Total Budget 

Savings 
(Excluding 

one-off costs) 

One-off 

costs 

1) consult on a 
seamless 

transition 

 
(£1,751,834) 

 
6.46 

 
£0 

 
(£363,750) 

 
(£121,250) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£320,817 

2) consult July 24 
– mothball end of 

Oct 24 

 
(£1,237,563) 

 
2.38 

 
£0 

 
(£453,849) 

 
(£31,151) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£922,140 

3) consult July 24 

– mothball end of 
Dec 24 (staff exit 

next financial 
year) 

 

(£1,156,357) 

 

2.36 

 

£0 

 

(£343,416) 

 

(£141,584) 

 

£0 

 

(£485,000) 

 

£906,463 

4) consult July 24 
– mothball end of 

Dec 24 (staff exit 
this financial year) 

 
(£1,243,273) 

 
2.44 

 
£0 

 
(£444,949) 

 
(£40,052) 

 
£0 

 
(£485,000) 

 
£907,830 

5) consult as part 

of budget – 
mothball March 25 

 

(£1,083,247) 

 

2.34 

 

£0 

 

(£178,507) 

 

(£306,493) 

 

£0 

 

(£485,000) 

 

£820,240 

 

T
udalen 113



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

T
udalen 114


	Agenda
	3 Cydbwllgor Craffu a gynhaliwyd ar 8 Gorffennaf 2024.
	4 Cydbwllgor Craffu a gynhaliwyd ar 18 Gorffennaf 2024.
	5 Mobileiddio Tim Caerffili - darpau prydau bwyd yn uniongyrchol yn y dyfodol a'r cwch gwenyn, Ty Penallta.
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Caerphilly County Borough Council
	Consultation Report on the proposal to cease the Meals Direct service and close its staff catering facilities at Penallta House
	Background
	Purpose
	Methodology (What we did)
	The Hive
	Meals Direct
	Survey
	Face to face engagement
	Residents and the wider audience


	Results/Key Findings
	Meals Direct
	Respondent profile
	Graph 1: Interest in consultation (multiple answers possible)
	Graph 2: Disability (n=703)
	Graph 3:  How often do you receive Meals Direct (n=331)

	Respondent views and emerging themes
	Graph 4: Please indicate whether you agree or disagree with the proposal (n=689)
	Impact on you/your family member
	Mitigation
	Alternative provision
	Graph 5:  Have you used or do you use any other meal delivery service?

	The Hive
	Graph 6: Interest in consultation (multi-response question)
	Graph 7:  How often do you visit the Hive to buy something?
	Graph: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close its catering facilities at Penallta House? (n=215)
	Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to close the Hive, Penallta House?
	Reasons for support/disagreement with the proposal
	Impact
	Mitigation suggestions


	Next steps
	List of annexes

	Atodiad 3

	6 Mobileiddio Tim Caerffili - darpau Maenordy Llancaiach Fawr yn y dyfodol.
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Caerphilly County Borough Council
	Consultation Report on the proposal to withdraw the subsidy and mothball Blackwood Miners’ Institute and to Mothball Llancaiach Fawr Manor from end of December 2024
	Background
	Llancaiach Fawr Manor
	Blackwood Miners Institute

	Purpose
	Methodology (What we did)
	Questionnaire
	Face to face engagement
	Drop in sessions


	Results/Key Findings
	Respondent profile
	Graph 1:  Interest in the consultation (multiple answers possible)
	Map 1: Geographical distribution of respondents
	Graph 2:  Age and gender profile of respondents (n male = 750; n female = 1633)

	Llancaiach Fawr
	Graph 3   Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to remove the subsidy for Llancaiach Fawr from December 2024? (n=1848)
	Level of subsidy
	Graph 4: Level of subsidy.  Percentage of respondents who agreed/disagreed with the level of subsidy (n=1837)
	Graph 5: How many times have you visited Llancaiach Fawr in the last 12 months (n=1834)?
	Graph 6: Reasons for visit to Llancaiach Fawr (multiple responses were possible)
	Impact of the proposal on you and your family
	Mitigation

	Blackwood Miner’s Institute
	Respondent views and emerging themes
	Graph 7: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to withdraw the subsidy from Blackwood Miner’s Institute at the end of December 2024 (n=2171)
	Graph 8: Do you agree or disagree with the annual subsidy of £347,000 provided to Blackwood Miner’s Institute? (n=2140)
	Graph 9:  Visits in the last 12 months (n=2151)
	Graph 10:  Reasons for visiting Blackwood Miner’s Institute (more than one response possible)
	Impact on you and your family
	Mitigation


	Next steps
	List of annexes

	Atodiad 3


